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          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  My name is Joel

          3  Rivera.  I'm the Chair to the Health Committee.  We

          4  are here today to discuss the restructuring of the

          5  Department of Mental Health and Hygiene's

          6  School-Based Oral Health Services.

          7                 Good dental care and health is

          8  extremely important for all of our children. That's

          9  something we're all aware of.  Poor oral health

         10  leads to chronic pain, poor self-esteem, bad

         11  nutrition, missed school days.  Low-income children

         12  are especially at risk for dental diseases.  New

         13  York City children who lack dental insurance or

         14  access to quality dental care often rely on the

         15  services provided by the Department's Dental

         16  Clinics.

         17                 It is critical that the needs of

         18  these children continue to be met. In January and

         19  July of this year, the City reported its plan to cut

         20  funding for the Department of Health and Mental

         21  Hygiene School-Based Dental Clinics by $929,000.  At

         22  that time, the Council was told that this cut would

         23  include the loss of three full-time dentists through

         24  attrition.

         25                 The Department explained that these
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          2  changes were part of its efforts to re-focus school

          3  dental services toward a greater emphasis on

          4  preventive care for younger students.

          5                 In October, however, the Council

          6  learned that an additional 16 part-time dentists and

          7  11 part-time dental assistants would be laid off.

          8  Another five part-time dentists and 11 part-time

          9  dental assistants would be furloughed during the

         10  summer.

         11                 Along with the lay-offs, the Council

         12  was informed that the Department planned to close

         13  nine school dental clinics and reduce the hours at

         14  all the remaining clinics by almost 200 hours. Last

         15  month, advocacy by the Members of the City Council

         16  and neighbor leaders convinced the Department not to

         17  lay- off any workers.  But the Department has made

         18  it clear that it still intends to reorganize the

         19  oral health services it provides to children and has

         20  not yet been forthcoming about its plans.  Despite

         21  repeated requests from the Council, we hope to hear

         22  these plans today.

         23                 It's kind of eerie the fact that with

         24  just a couple of weeks before the holiday season

         25  begins and people do not know whether they're coming
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          2  and going and it's kind of difficult to go into the

          3  holiday season with this type of situation taking

          4  place around them.  So, I'm hopeful that today,

          5  since we postponed the last hearing for the

          6  convenience of the Department, we'll be able to be

          7  briefed and detailed on the full plan that I know

          8  the Committee staff has been requesting for quite

          9  some time.

         10                 We do have Louise Cohen, the Deputy

         11  Commissioner for the New York City Department for

         12  Health and Mental Hygiene who will be testifying

         13  today with Chris Manning as well.  You may begin.

         14                 I also wanted to introduce my

         15  colleague, Council Member Miguel Martinez who's here

         16  with us.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  Thank you

         18  very much for inviting us to testify here today.  My

         19  name is Louise Cohen.  I'm Deputy Commissioner for

         20  the Division of Health Care Access and Improvement

         21  at the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene.

         22                 On behalf of Commissioner Frieden, I

         23  thank you for the opportunity to testify regarding

         24  the Department's efforts to restructure its oral

         25  health program.  I will briefly discuss are improved
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          2  service paradigm and explain how the restructuring

          3  will enable more children to access better services

          4  and thereby achieve better oral health.

          5                 As you know, the Department has

          6  provided oral health services to the children of New

          7  York City for over 100 years.  In the early part of

          8  the 20th century, the Department operated the only

          9  dental program to provide services, free of charge,

         10  to poor children.  Since that time the oral health

         11  program has operated continuously in Department of

         12  Health health centers providing children with a

         13  variety of services including cleaning, sealants,

         14  fillings and root canals.

         15                 In 1990, the Department re- evaluated

         16  the program and created a new program model designed

         17  to promote flexibility, deepen roots in the

         18  community and increase access for children in need

         19  and ultimately to serve more children.  This model

         20  relied on community based "portable" sites located

         21  primarily in schools to provide services to children

         22  in need.

         23                 These sites had one dental chair and

         24  were supervised by regional dental offices

         25  throughout the City.  There were fixed school sites
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          2  were equipment was actually fixed in the room and

          3  the conversion of those fixed school sites to 32

          4  portable clinics in elementary, intermediate and

          5  high schools was completed by 1991.

          6                 One additional and very important

          7  development over the past 100 years is that

          8  virtually all children are now eligible for either

          9  private or public health insurance giving them

         10  greater access to dental care in their communities.

         11  Medicaid, Child Health Plus and Family Health Plus

         12  all cover pediatric dental services.

         13                 In our current dental service model,

         14  community sites have one dental chair, usually

         15  located in a public school.  An available room with

         16  electricity and running water is converted into a

         17  dental operatory, staffed by a dentist and a dental

         18  assistant. These sites are open an average of three

         19  days per week for between four and seven hours per

         20  day providing screening, sealants, cleaning,

         21  fillings and occasionally more complicated

         22  procedures such as extractions and root canals.

         23                 The health center sites are larger

         24  with four to five chairs and multiple dentists,

         25  dental hygienists and dental assistants.  Open five
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          2  days per week during regular business hours, these

          3  sites provide a full range of dental pediatric

          4  services including exams, application of sealants,

          5  restorative care such as cavity fillings, root

          6  canals, extractions and other surgical procedures.

          7  The Department of Health and Mental Hygiene is

          8  committed to providing evidence- based public health

          9  programs.

         10                 In 2002, the Centers for Disease

         11  Control's Task Force on Community Preventive

         12  Services reported that the key interventions proven

         13  effective to prevent tooth decay among children are

         14  community- wide fluoridation programs and school-

         15  based sealants.

         16                 School- based oral health programs

         17  that emphasize sealant delivery have been associated

         18  with an average decrease in dental cavities of 60%.

         19  New York City has had fluoridated water since 1964,

         20  always a leader, but the oral health program has

         21  only recently begun to focus its resources on the

         22  application of dental sealants as part of this

         23  evidence- based approach.

         24                 Sealants are, according to the

         25  American Dental Association, a plastic material that
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          2  is usually applied to the chewing surfaces of the

          3  back teeth, pre- molars and morals.  This plastic

          4  resin bonds into the depressions and grooves of the

          5  chewing surfaces of the back teeth acting as a

          6  barrier protecting enamel from plaque and acids.

          7                 Through brushing and flossing help

          8  remove food particles and plaque from smooth

          9  surfaces of teeth but tooth brush bristles cannot

         10  reach all the way back into the depressions and

         11  grooves to extract the food and plaque.  Sealants

         12  protect these vulnerable areas by sealing out plaque

         13  and food.

         14                 Despite the evidence for sealant use

         15  as a key preventive service and the availability of

         16  public health insurance, New York City continues to

         17  have low rates of sealant coverage for at- risk

         18  children.  Data from 2002 through 2004 shows that

         19  only 12% of New York City's third graders had one or

         20  more sealants compared to the state- wide rate of

         21  38% for all third graders and a national rate of 27%

         22  for the same group.  Healthy People 2010, the

         23  national health promotion and disease prevention

         24  initiative, the federal government, has set a

         25  sealant target of 50% of all children by the year
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          2  2010.

          3                 Prevalence of sealants does vary

          4  somewhat among children by race and ethnicity, with

          5  white children having a slightly higher percentage

          6  of sealants applied than Asian, Black or Latino

          7  children.  However, analyzing New York State data by

          8  socio-economic status shows a much greater disparity

          9  with 41% of children with higher socio-economic

         10  status having sealants applied compared with 18% of

         11  those with lower socio-economic status.  New York

         12  City's poor children have an even lower sealant

         13  prevalence of only 11%.

         14                 Over the past several years, the

         15  Department has been exploring ways to reach our

         16  goals of delivering quality preventive dental care

         17  to the greatest number of underserved children, and

         18  reaching the Healthy People 2010 goal of sealants

         19  for 50% of all children.  With that in mind the

         20  Department is restructuring the oral health program

         21  in several important ways.  First, we plan to move

         22  away from providing intensive, restorative

         23  procedures for older students, instead targeting

         24  primary and intermediate school students for primary

         25  and preventive care, including and most importantly
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          2  screening and sealants.

          3                 Secondly, we plan to modify operating

          4  hours to better suit the schedules of students,

          5  teachers and parents. Morning hours in schools tend

          6  to be more academic in nature and teachers and

          7  principals are often reluctant to have children

          8  pulled for dental services during the day- in the

          9  morning especially. The Department is currently

         10  working with Beacon schools that have after school

         11  programs to offer oral health services in the

         12  afternoon hours.   We have received positive

         13  feedback from this initial initiative and are now

         14  exploring a program model that would include more

         15  afternoon, evening and hopefully some Saturday hours

         16  to better accommodate students, teachers and

         17  parents.

         18                 Thirdly we would like to improve our

         19  staffing patterns so that the most effective dental

         20  teams work together in community- based sites and at

         21  the dental clinics.  One model under consideration

         22  would involve a team of dentists, dental assistants

         23  and dental hygienists serving a school in a short-

         24  term campaign that would provide screening,

         25  sealants, and referrals.  Parents would be given
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          2  information on public health insurance programs and

          3  assistance in finding both a medical and a dental

          4  home for regular dental and health care.  After some

          5  period of time, this team would then move on to

          6  another school and repeat this intervention.

          7                 Finally, the Department is creating

          8  new outreach strategies, including the development

          9  of new oral health informational materials including

         10  literature about sealants for dissemination to

         11  schools, parents and community- based organizations

         12  to generate awareness of the program and of

         13  sealants.  We are also revising our dental consent

         14  form to include information about sealants and

         15  questions about health insurance coverage so that

         16  the Departments's facilitated enrollers can identify

         17  and assist eligible, interested parents in obtaining

         18  public health insurance which covers dental care.

         19                 To maximize oral health education and

         20  outreach in underserved communities we are working

         21  very closely with other groups such as the NYU

         22  Dental School van and the Colgate Bright Smiles,

         23  Bright Futures program.  The locations and times for

         24  those dental screenings by dental personnel in the

         25  vans will be coordinated with Department of Health
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          2  staff and referrals to health centers and community-

          3  based sites will be followed- up on and monitored to

          4  make sure that students actually arrived and got the

          5  care they needed.

          6                 We are also increasing our

          7  coordination activity with our own Department of

          8  Health and Department of Education Office of School

          9  Health which is assisting the program to enlist the

         10  support of principals, teachers and parent

         11  coordinators to promote the dental programs in the

         12  schools.  We'll provide information materials for

         13  school nurses and our Department of Health Primary

         14  Care Physicians on oral health, especially sealants

         15  and we will develop protocols for referring children

         16  to our school based dental providers.

         17                 While the original draft of our

         18  restructuring plan included the possibility of lay-

         19  offs, I'm happy to report that the Department will

         20  proceed to restructure the program starting with the

         21  current complement of staff.  We will increase core

         22  preventative services for kids and, in the medium

         23  term, attrition, administrative reassignments and

         24  scheduling shifts during the summer months will

         25  allow us best to utilize our staff resources.
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          2                 As we have done every year and

          3  keeping with the original intent of instituting a

          4  program largely based on portable equipment, the

          5  oral health program is also reviewing community

          6  sites to make sure they are being effectively

          7  utilized.  In doing so, we assess the number of

          8  students with parental consents on file, the amount

          9  of time that a dentist actually spends with the

         10  child in his or her dental chair and the location of

         11  the school in relationship with other dental sites

         12  and, frankly, to other schools in the neighborhood

         13  that may not have a dental program.

         14                 At the current time, we intend to

         15  reduce hours at high schools in accordance with our

         16  change of prioritization from high school students

         17  to elementary and middle school students. Similarly,

         18  greater emphasis will be placed on preventive dental

         19  services with those requiring more intensive

         20  procedures being referred to Department of Health

         21  clinics and other community- based dental providers

         22  such as those in HHC.

         23                 I want to emphasize that the

         24  Department remains committed to completing treatment

         25  plans for all current patients at all schools.
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          2                 The Department is also in the process

          3  of identifying new and more appropriate locations

          4  sites to add to the program mix. This process is

          5  intensive.  It requires site visits, making sure

          6  that there's an appropriate room and outreach to

          7  principals to gauge interest in the program.  In

          8  addition, as I mentioned earlier, we're exploring

          9  alternative models including a shorter more

         10  intensive relationship with individual schools so we

         11  can reach many more schools and truly meet the

         12  intent of the concept of a portable program.

         13                 As the City's public health agency,

         14  the Department is committed to providing the best

         15  dental care possible and to reaching Healthy People

         16  2010 goal of 50% sealant application for children in

         17  elementary and middle schools.  The Department will

         18  concentrate oral health resources on direct sealant

         19  applications. We'll work with other New York City

         20  pediatric dental providers to improve rates of

         21  sealant application in the community and to improve

         22  awareness and acceptance of this important

         23  preventive measure among both parents and

         24  physicians.

         25                 On behalf of Commissioner Frieden, I
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          2  would like to thank the Council for its interest in

          3  the Department of Health oral health program and we

          4  look forward to working together to improve the

          5  public's health.  I am pleased to answer any

          6  questions you may have at this time.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  All right.

          8  Thank you very much. At this point in time I want to

          9  introduce my colleagues.  We have Council Member

         10  Kendall Stewart and Councilwoman Letitia James and,

         11  just entering, Councilwoman Maria Baez and

         12  Councilwoman Maria del Carmen Arroyo.

         13                 I just have a couple of questions.

         14  How many of these school- based dental sites

         15  currently exist in the city of New York?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:

         17  Currently- sorry I'm just looking for the exact

         18  number.  I think it's 53 but I need to check.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  I think it's

         20  about 58, right?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  I think

         22  it's 53 community- based sites and we have five

         23  health center sites.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay.  And

         25  you're looking to scale that down from the fixed
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          2  school sites to the 32 portable clinics?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  No, we're

          4  not targeting a specific number at this point.

          5  We're looking to reduce hours right now at high

          6  schools with the concept being that the high school

          7  students are more mobile.  We would like to refer

          8  them to our dental clinics and to HAC dental clinics

          9  for further dental care and we would want to

         10  concentrate then on the prevention for the younger

         11  students.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Do you have a

         13  listing of which schools you're gong to be

         14  targeting?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  We have a

         16  listing of current high schools in which we have

         17  programs and, I believe, we will get that to the

         18  Council- have already given that to the Council.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay.  My

         20  question falls along the line of the fact that it's

         21  an old cliche we've all heard it a thousand and one

         22  times.  You know, you can take a horse to water but

         23  you can't force them to drink, right?  So, I think

         24  the premise of having these dental clinics in the

         25  school is the fact that access has been something
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          2  that's been very difficult for a lot of

          3  neighborhoods within the City of New York.  So the

          4  City of New York has responded by saying we're going

          5  to bring the water to the school.  We're going to

          6  make sure the dental clinics are in the schools so

          7  that way there will be no excuse for people to say

          8  they won't have access to dental care.

          9                 To me this is a step in the wrong

         10  direction now. How did you come up with the idea

         11  that taking away dental care out of the school where

         12  kids spent half of their time in.  You know, you

         13  spent most of your time at home or you spent most of

         14  your time at school.  So, short of actually putting

         15  a dentist in the home, the school would be the best

         16  place.  So, how did we come up with the rationale

         17  that more students will have access to dental care

         18  off- site opposed to on- site where they spend the

         19  vast majority of their time.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  Well,

         21  Council Member we agree with you completely and I

         22  think that the CDC guidelines point us in the

         23  direction that school- based sealant programs are

         24  actually effective in reaching kids.  I think,

         25  however, we have to recognize that we're not
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          2  reaching every child in New York City at this time.

          3  We would actually like to reach more with what we

          4  think the Public Health Program should be which is

          5  prevention and sealants.  What we would like to do

          6  is make sure that every student in New York City has

          7  a medical and a dental home to which they get on-

          8  going regular. And towards that end we would like to

          9  make sure that every child in New York City is

         10  insured so that they can also get those services.

         11                 So, we agree with you that schools

         12  are a good place. However, I would also say that it

         13  requires a great deal of coordination and

         14  collaboration between the school itself and the

         15  parents and the dental programs.  So, for example,

         16  we need parental consent before we can even look in

         17  a child's mouth because it is an invasive procedure.

         18    This isn't something we can do without parental

         19  consent and I think that's very important.

         20                 So we don't have 100%, even in

         21  schools where we have been for a very long time.  We

         22  don't have 100% parental consents. Some schools we

         23  actually have very limited parental consents

         24  compared to the population of the school so we need

         25  to do more work in outreach with the parent
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          2  coordinators to help us get those parental consents

          3  on file.

          4                 The second thing is that, you can

          5  imagine especially during this era of no child left

          6  behind, that schools may be reluctant to have

          7  children pulled from academic programs for 40

          8  minutes say to see a dentist.  So that's one of the

          9  reasons now when we're trying to figure out how to

         10  do this in a place, for example, like a Beacon

         11  School Program where the child wouldn't be pulled

         12  from an academic program to see the dentist.

         13                 Most of our schools' dentists are

         14  there in the morning often from 8 to 1 or 2.  While

         15  they do see children during recess and during their

         16  lunch hours, it's simply not sufficient. We

         17  currently today do not have a child in a dentist's

         18  chair every hour that a dentist is in a school and

         19  we think that has to change. We'd like to have all

         20  of our dentists fully occupied and certainly no

         21  fault to the dentists but we think that we have to

         22  improve our ability to get kids in those chair.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  I agree.  I

         24  think we do have to improve our ability to get the

         25  kids in those chairs.  It may be a it's a better
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          2  outreach program.  Maybe it's- you know, obviously

          3  reaching out to the parents and coordinating with

          4  them.  To my recollection, if a child goes to the

          5  dentist outside of the school they would still need

          6  parental consent to go get their mouth checked.  So,

          7  all it means is just another role that we would have

          8  to play to make sure the parents are realizing they

          9  have this service in the schools.

         10                 I can guarantee you the vast majority

         11  of the parents are not aware that this exists in the

         12  actual locations that it's currently in.  So that

         13  means there's something we're not doing in making

         14  sure that we can get this parental consent.  We have

         15  to make sure they're being told that this program

         16  exists.  We got to find out how we can coordinate

         17  with the principals and the teachers to make sure

         18  that we can get these kids in the dental chair

         19  during a specified period of time during that day so

         20  they have access to it.

         21                 The dentists are there to do a job.

         22  We know that. They want to do a good job.  We know

         23  it works.  We know that, in my belief, the schools

         24  are the best location because of the simple fact

         25  that's where kids are.  If you take it away from
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          2  where they are, access is going to be an issue.  If

          3  you're not mobile.  If you don't have a vehicle,

          4  you're not going to get to that dentist.  If you are

          5  a single mother or a single father working one or

          6  two jobs, you're not going to have the time to take

          7  your child to the dentist after school or during

          8  different hours.  It becomes very difficult,

          9  specially within the lower income community for

         10  people to have access to dental care.  This is, in

         11  my belief, this plan is foolhardy.  I think we have

         12  to go back and figure out how we can fix what's

         13  currently in existence to make sure we have a

         14  program that's running effectively in the school.

         15  This is something we should be expanding.  I don't

         16  understand, I'm not an expert on this.  You

         17  obviously know a lot more in terms of policy issues

         18  but in just mere common sense- you know kids spent a

         19  lot more time in schools.  So we just have to make

         20  sure they have access to their dental.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  I'm going to

         22  open it up at this point in time to my colleague

         23  Council Member Maria del Carmen Arroyo is the next

         24  to ask questions.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  Thank you,
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          2  Mr. Chair.  I apologize for being late but we were

          3  stuck between Landmarks and Waterfronts and Hunger.

          4  Hunger won.

          5                 I'm going to ask you a question that

          6  you may have already answered so for that forgive me

          7  if that's the case.

          8                 Restructuring the program- moving

          9  dental services from on site in schools to community

         10  health centers or HAC facilities.  No?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  No, I

         12  think what we're saying is that we want to

         13  concentrate on primary prevention, particularly

         14  sealants for the younger kids.  The theory here

         15  being then they won't need to go on.  I mean,

         16  frankly, I would have loved to have sealants when I

         17  was a kid cause then I wouldn't have had to go get

         18  fillings in my back teeth.  So what we want to do is

         19  prevent those kids from going on to have more

         20  painful and difficult dental programs because

         21  they're going to be getting the preventive care.

         22                 The restructuring concept is two

         23  things.  One of them is we would like to move from

         24  some of the sites where we more fully operate at

         25  high schools to reduce some of those hours with the
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          2  idea that we will make sure that all those kids that

          3  we have parental consents will get completed their

          4  treatment and they're referred.  And then what we

          5  want to do actually in the restructuring and I think

          6  this is very important and perhaps I didn't make

          7  this clear enough in my testimony.  We actually want

          8  more elementary and middle school kids to get these

          9  services.

         10                 Right now we have- say a school in

         11  the neighborhood where there is a dentist on site

         12  maybe two mornings.  But there's only a kid in that

         13  chair maybe half the time.  So we have to do two

         14  things.  One of them is we have to make sure that

         15  there's always a kid in the chair and that's our, I

         16  agree with you that we have not done a good job at

         17  that.  I would absolutely agree with you on that and

         18  for that we take full responsibility.  However, we

         19  also want to make sure that the school three blocks

         20  away, which may not currently have a dental program,

         21  has access to those same services. So we're trying

         22  to restructure to get more services to those kids by

         23  doing a different model.  Not necessarily having the

         24  dentist in one school all the time for ten years in

         25  a row but saying all the schools in the neighborhood
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          2  deserve some level of dental care.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  So we're not

          4  taking the dental services out of the schools.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  That is

          6  not our intention.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  I got a

          8  different impression.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  But in the

         10  testimony it does state that there will be a

         11  reduction in hours.  So you mean to tell me that a

         12  dentist is only in the school from like ten to 1

         13  o'clock and did not have an access to the kids

         14  because they don't have parental consent or they-

         15  the principal is not giving them up because of no

         16  child left behind but you can reduce the hours in

         17  essence even further taking away that opportunity

         18  for dental care. Because you just stated two

         19  competing sides.  You said in not eliminating the

         20  programs but at the same time you understand that

         21  the programs are not effective because of the hours

         22  and because of the fact of lack of parental consent

         23  and lack of principal or teachers participation

         24  because of free of the no child left behind

         25  policies.  So it's competing arguments there.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  We want

          3  to concentrate our resources on the younger kids so

          4  that we can do primary prevention which means

          5  figuring out ways to reach more children with the

          6  current resources that we have.  To do that, we plan

          7  to reduce hours in high schools.  That is accurate.

          8  With the idea that every single one of those

          9  children will get information on how to access

         10  dental services in the community.  However-

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  Let me ask a

         12  question because that's where you referenced the

         13  referrals would be done to community providers and

         14  HAC facilities.  What are the resources those

         15  entities have?  I know in my history with HAC the

         16  dental program El Segundo (phonetic) had a waiting

         17  list of two and a half years. So, you're shifting

         18  the referral to providers who may not have the

         19  capacity to absorb that shift.  Maybe working better

         20  the outreach and the education in the schools to

         21  maximize the utilization of the resources you have

         22  there may be a better way to handle this because I

         23  know that HAC hasn't changed that much and I suspect

         24  that the waiting lists and the dental clinics in

         25  those community centers are probably the same if not
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          2  worse.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  Right now

          4  we have capacity in our own health centers- in the

          5  five health centers that we operate and we would

          6  certainly refer students to those place.  For

          7  example, there's one high school that is down the

          8  street from one of our health centers.  We think it

          9  might be more effective if they went there instead

         10  of having a dentist outposted in the high school a

         11  block away.  But we understand that different

         12  facilities may have waiting lists.  We will work

         13  very closely with HAC and the federally qualified

         14  community health centers that also have dental

         15  programs in order to effectively refer students and

         16  monitor that they got there.

         17                 In our phone calling - sort of secret

         18  phone calling with HAC, there was a six-weeks' wait

         19  for a new appointment, for a patient who had never

         20  been seen before, that's actually equivalent to many

         21  private dental offices in the city.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  Well, Mr.

         23  Chairman, I urge a great deal of caution because

         24  what gets reported to HAC central office and the

         25  reality on the ground level of the providers in the
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          2  community are probably two different things and I,

          3  for one, would like to see the data that they're

          4  looking at.  I'll call the neighborhood clinics to

          5  see when I'm going to get a dental appointment and

          6  then we'll share and compare the information.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Very good idea.

          8  At this point in time I do, unfortunately, have to

          9  head out myself.  I'm going to leave it in the able

         10  hands of my colleague Council Member Kendall

         11  Stewart.  I'm going to be with the Governor Elect.

         12                 But I just want to leave you with

         13  this.  While I believe your intentions are noble and

         14  we're all on the same page that we want to make sure

         15  kids get adequate dental care.  I think our means of

         16  getting to that may differ a little bit.  You put a

         17  lot of faith into our high school students.  I don't

         18  believe at the end of the day high school students

         19  are going to wake up and say "You know what?  Today

         20  I'm going to go to the dentist."  I think that

         21  that's something that we have to be very mindful of.

         22    So, we have to express caution on that side even

         23  though I understand the sealants at an early age

         24  will help a generation ahead of us.  We'll make sure

         25  in the future those children will not have the same
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          2  levels of root canal procedures or other procedures

          3  that may be needed.  But I'm talking about also the

          4  kids today.  We cannot have the forgotten few; the

          5  forgotten generation.  We cannot allow the high

          6  schoolers and the others to fall in the situation

          7  where now they're getting less services than they

          8  were previously entitled to at a point in time where

          9  we should be provide more services.  I just don't

         10  see how a high school student is going to say "You

         11  know what?  At five o'clock I'm going to the

         12  dentist."  I don't see it happening.

         13                 I will leave you with that.  At this

         14  point I'll leave you with Council Member Kendall

         15  Stewart.  Thank you very much for your

         16  participation.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Council

         18  Member James.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Thank you.

         20                 Let me see if I can simplify this and

         21  I have a series of questions and I hope, Mr. Chair,

         22  you will allow me some latitude.  Obviously I'm very

         23  much concerned about this project.

         24                 My understanding is that their

         25  restructuring of the program is as follows.  But,
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          2  before I get to the structuring, let me just sort of

          3  understand in my mind and for the benefit of my

          4  colleagues how this system works.

          5                 Currently there are stationary health

          6  care centers, yes?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  Yes.

          8  There are five of them in the Department of Health

          9  Facilities.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:   Right.  And

         11  then there are portable dental facilities which are

         12  primarily located in schools: Elementary, secondary

         13  and high schools, yes?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  That's

         15  correct.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:   Okay.  Now,

         17  your proposal, as we go forward is the following as

         18  far as I understand it.  With respect to the

         19  portable clinics, my understanding based upon your

         20  testimony is that you're moving towards preventive

         21  work as opposed to the wide- range of services that

         22  you mentioned at the outset of your testimony, yes?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  That's

         24  correct.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:   And you're
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          2  focusing primarily on sealants, yes?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:   And you're

          5  moving away from older school primarily focusing on

          6  middle schools and grade- school children, yes?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:   And it's also

          9  my understanding we're going to be now working with

         10  a team of dentists and dental assistants, so and so

         11  forth, yes?  It's a team approach, a coordinated

         12  team approach.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  We would

         14  like to do that yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:   And it's also

         16  my understanding that you're chancing the hours.

         17  You are restructuring the hours, yes?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  To the

         19  extent that we can yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  And it's also

         21  my understanding that there's going to be a better

         22  coordination and outreach with the community and

         23  coordination with other agencies to create some sort

         24  of health care model, if you will, for these

         25  children.

                                                            32

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  That's

          3  correct.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  That's pretty

          5  much the restructuring.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Okay.  Now I

          8  think I got it.

          9                 First of all, if you could provide us

         10  with a list of those portable clinics that would be

         11  greatly appreciated- in all five boroughs.  If you

         12  could provide that to the Chair.  I just would like

         13  to know- I know you provided us copies of the high

         14  school- based dental sites but the middle school and

         15  the grade school is missing.  Is there a copy?  Did

         16  I not get a copy or is that the only copy you

         17  provided for high schools?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  We'd be

         19  glad to get for you the full list.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:   Thank you.

         21                 Now, it's also-

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  Excuse

         23  me, I think we have provided it in the past.  We'd

         24  be glad to-

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Okay.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN: - provide

          3  it again.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:   Thank you.

          5                 Now the restructuring, as far as the

          6  hours are concerned, did you work with current staff

          7  to restructure the hours?  It's my understanding

          8  that most of your workers, most of your dentists are

          9  part- time.  Is that correct?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  Many of

         11  them are part time but we do have a number of full-

         12  time staff as well.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  When were they

         14  provided notice with regards to the change of hours?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  We

         16  provide notice in two different ways.  One of them

         17  is that, the way that the schedules are developed is

         18  that we have regional dental directors who work- who

         19  by the way are part of Doctors Council, who are the

         20  ones who are responsible in each one of our four

         21  regions that we have to create the schedules.

         22  That's based on the schools and it's based on our

         23  hope that we will have space and staff availability

         24  and so forth.  So actually those are the people who

         25  create the schedules for the staff.
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          2                 When we choose to change hours,

          3  either in a school or for a series of staff, we

          4  notify them well in advance per Union contractual

          5  obligations as well as the convenience of the

          6  schools. So, folks are usually notified well in

          7  advance of any scheduling changes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Allow me to

          9  paraphrase what you just said and correct me if I've

         10  misinterpreted what you just said.

         11

         12                 You work with the Doctors Council to

         13  coordinate the schedules, no?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  No, what

         15  I was saying was that the Regional Dental Directors-

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Yes.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN: - we have

         18  four of them, are responsible for creating the

         19  schedules.  I'm just pointing out that they are also

         20  Doctors Council Members in addition to the dentists

         21  who are Doctors Council Members.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  But for the

         23  most part they represent management?  Or how does

         24  that work?  The Regional Directors.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  There are
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          2  Regional Directors and they're responsible for

          3  scheduling and other clinical supervision in their

          4  sites.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Would it be

          6  fair to say that given the fact that most of these

          7  dentists are part- time that they primarily they

          8  have secondary jobs?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  I've been

         10  told that many of them do.  I don't know.  We don't

         11  require them to tell us if they have other

         12  employment.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Did you take

         14  into consideration or did these Regional Directors

         15  take into consideration the impact on their

         16  secondary jobs or is that not much of a concern.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  I

         18  appreciate that it is a concern, but if we're not

         19  reaching a student population that we need to reach

         20  in the hours that we have, we need to change our

         21  programs hours.  So, I believe that that is our

         22  number one concern.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  No, I

         24  recognize your primary mission and, obviously, I

         25  support you.  The bottom line is that we need to
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          2  serve more children in the City of New York.

          3  Obviously they have dental needs that we really need

          4  to address.  As someone who represents downtown

          5  Brooklyn- I represent a large pocket of children who

          6  are below the poverty level and I'm very much

          7  concerned about this program.  I too want to serve

          8  as many children as possible.

          9                 However, at the same time, I

         10  recognize that oftentimes you can achieve that

         11  objective if you work with staff. Sometimes my staff

         12  wants to leave early and they sometimes leave early

         13  without me knowing and I loose it.  And I say, why

         14  don't you just talk to me and see if we can work it

         15  out and we can achieve the same objective.  So, the

         16  question is whether or not that ever happened.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  I believe

         18  our program on a regular basis speaks with the

         19  staff.  We know where there are schools that are

         20  under- utilized and, again, we try to maximize

         21  utilization.  I think the staff are well aware of

         22  that as well.  I think those conversations take

         23  place relatively regularly.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:   As a result

         25  of the change in hours, did we loose any part- time
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          2  dentists, as far as you know? Did any of them resign

          3  or were dismissed or just left?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  No and I

          5  want to point out that a lot of the changes right

          6  now are relatively minor and there are not very many

          7  places.  I mean, we're changing an hour here and

          8  there and we're looking at more afternoon and

          9  evening hours.  By the way, the places where the

         10  program is enthusiastically received, for example, a

         11  Beacon Program where we initiated a program that was

         12  different hours, I think all the staff was actually

         13  very happy to see that there were kids lining up and

         14  wanting to come in to the dentist's office.  So, I

         15  think it's a win- win for the staff when they feel

         16  that they're program is being full- filled in the

         17  way it should be.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:   And the

         19  evening hours and the Saturday hours, how did you

         20  achieve that?  Were these part- time dentists

         21  ordered to know work on Saturdays and the evening?

         22  And if so, when were they notified?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  No, we

         24  haven't actually changed to evening and weekend

         25  hours as far as I'm aware at this time in the health
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          2  centers.  Our intent is to do so and they will be

          3  notified in plenty of time.  Those providers are

          4  primarily full time staff.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:   Okay.

          6                 Now, let's go to the preventive work.

          7    Again, I agree with my colleague, the Chair who

          8  left, and I believe that we should go where the

          9  children are.  I have a serious problem with just

         10  doing preventive work only.  I believe that we

         11  should provide those wide-range in services to

         12  children in schools and not just limited to

         13  sealants.  You mentioned sealants in your testimony.

         14    In fact there is an entire page dedicated to

         15  sealants and I've learned a lot but I really would

         16  like to provide to children to fill their cavities,

         17  root- canal and all those other services that you

         18  mentioned at the outset.

         19                 It seems to me that the way that we

         20  achieve cost savings is to move away from those

         21  services and to only provide sealants and I am of

         22  the opinion that that is inadequate.  That does not

         23  meet the needs of the children of the City of New

         24  York. I recognize that you now want to refer them to

         25  those health centers, however, we should go where
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          2  the children are and we should provide those

          3  services where the children are.  What is your

          4  thoughts?  Well, obviously you disagree because

          5  you're trying to change the program.  Does it come

          6  down to the bottom line?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  Actually

          8  it doesn't.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  It does not.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  What it

         11  comes down to is to the mission of the Department of

         12  Health and Mental Hygiene as a public health

         13  mission.  Our goal is to prevent disease and

         14  certainly in kids and in dental services that means

         15  prevention and sealants.  We believe that certainly

         16  if a child comes to us and needs these other

         17  services we would provide them and we do provide

         18  them.  But what we really want to make sure is that

         19  over the course of their lifetimes they have the

         20  right dental care.  That means really getting them

         21  into a dental home just like we talk about a medical

         22  home.  I'd like every child in the City to have a

         23  dental home so that when they graduate from

         24  elementary school, they still got a dentist that

         25  they go to.  That's what we'd like to see.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  So is it your

          3  testimony today that you will continue to provide

          4  the services of extractions, root canals, cavity

          5  fillings and other surgical procedures in the

          6  schools only when necessary or only on emergency

          7  basis?  Is that your testimony?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  No we

          9  would provide them as necessary.  We would provide

         10  them to children as necessary. What we're trying to

         11  do, however, is focus the programs resources on

         12  prevention.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  But will these

         14  services be available to them on a regular basis at

         15  the schools?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  In those

         17  schools where there is a dentists?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Yes.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  For the

         20  most part, yes there will be.  But remember that

         21  many, many, many elementary schools in this City do

         22  not have our dental program.  We'd like to figure

         23  out a way to get some dental services to all kids

         24  and try to hook- up many more children to a dental

         25  home.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  I recognize

          3  that.  It's my opinion that we should expand these

          4  services so that we can achieve that objective as

          5  opposed to limiting the type of dental services to

          6  children to just preventive and provide these wide-

          7  ranging services to as many children as possible.

          8  And if, in fact, it is a budgetary issue at a time

          9  when we're looking at record surpluses. I believe

         10  the last indication suggests that we are at the 2

         11  billion dollar mark because of Wall Street.  Thank

         12  God Wall Street continues.  I hope that we can set

         13  aside some funds so that we can expand this program

         14  so that we treat children where they are and that we

         15  provide them with a wide- range of services and not

         16  just permitted to sealants or preventive work.

         17                 I don't want to dominate but let me

         18  just move on to two other issues.  It's my

         19  understanding against speaking to my dentists

         20  friends that in some of these clinics they don't

         21  have adequate supplies.  When was the last time the

         22  Agency did a survey of the supplies at some of these

         23  school- based health clinics?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  I don't

         25  know the specific answer to that question.  We do
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          2  have a warehouse that receives the supplies and

          3  sends them out.  To the extent that there are

          4  concerns, we would want to improve that service.  I

          5  would agree that if there is a problem we want to

          6  improve it.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  So I would

          8  suggest that we do an inventory of some of these

          9  clinics.  Because it's my understanding, again

         10  according to reports that I'm hearing, that they

         11  lack basic supplies and that's a problem.

         12                 Avenue, I don't represent this part

         13  of town, but Avenue S and East 16th Street, a dental

         14  clinic was there was closed.  Can you give me a

         15  status report on that clinic at some point in time?

         16  Avenue S and East 16th Street was closed allegedly

         17  for renovations but has since closed it's doors.  As

         18  we go forward, I really have some serious

         19  reservations with regards to this restructuring.

         20  And, by the way, why wasn't City Council notified

         21  with regard to the restructuring?  First of all, you

         22  rescinded the lay-offs, thank you, but why weren't

         23  we ever notified with regards to the lay-offs from

         24  the outset?  Why did we have to read about it in the

         25  newspaper?
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          2                 I like Chris.  Chris Manning is a

          3  very old friend and so I'm gentle when Chris

          4  testifies.

          5                 MR. MANNING:  And I appreciate that

          6  Council Woman.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  But, Chris

          8  knows that sometimes I forget who I am.

          9                 MR. MANNING:  No, absolutely.  My

         10  name is Chris Manning.  I'm the Director of Inter-

         11  Governmental Affairs for the Department.

         12                 Two things.  Looking back are there

         13  certain things that we could have done a better job

         14  of making people aware of? Sure.  And we will

         15  continue to do our best to make sure that that

         16  doesn't happen in the future.

         17                 To the actual restructuring itself I

         18  think that the thing that I want to stress is that a

         19  lot of it is still in process.  As the Deputy

         20  Commissioner pointed out, there's a number of

         21  different models that we're looking at.  Nothing has

         22  been absolutely decided in terms of which direction

         23  we want to go.  We have some fundamental principles

         24  from which we're building in restructuring the

         25  program and we're happy to keep the Council informed
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          2  as we go forward and as more sort of decisive

          3  actions are contemplated.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  You know what,

          5  we're about to embark upon a new budget in the New

          6  Year.  I would hope that you would work with the

          7  City Council given the record surplus.  I am certain

          8  that my colleagues would join with you with a new

          9  initiative to expand this program for outreach.  To

         10  hire more dentists to reach as many children as

         11  possible.  Again, the children that I'm most focused

         12  on are children who are homeless and children who

         13  are poor  I represent, as you know, Ingersol,

         14  Whitman, Farragut, Atlantic Terminal but they're all

         15  my children and I want them all to get dental

         16  services.

         17                 I can remember growing up poor when I

         18  had a cavity and I had a tooth ache I could not

         19  study, could not read but my mother took me to a

         20  dentist thank God.  Now I stand before you as a City

         21  Council Member and as someone who, unfortunately,

         22  has to cross- examine you as a lawyer but I do it

         23  for the children.

         24                 Thank you and thank you, Mr.

         25  Chairman.  I look forward to the further testimony.
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  You can

          3  tell from the way Council Member James was

          4  questioning, she's an attorney.  You can tell that.

          5  But, before I call on the next Council Member, I

          6  have a couple of questions that I would like to ask.

          7                 You mentioned most time no one is in

          8  the chair. That's what you said earlier.  Is there

          9  any programs in these schools for mandatory check-

         10  ups?  Because I think if you had- from what I have

         11  seen here it appears that only if there's a problem

         12  or if someone come to request that they need some

         13  help that service is being rendered.  That might be

         14  one of the reasons no one is in the chair because we

         15  have thousands and millions of youngsters in the

         16  schools.  So, is there any program in the schools

         17  that says that a child should have mandatory check-

         18  ups so that if you're doing preventative care, there

         19  should be mandatory check- ups.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  First of

         21  all, if I said that there was most of the times a

         22  child wasn't in the chair I mis-spoke and for that I

         23  would apologize.  But what I said was we would like

         24  to make sure that every hour that a dentist is there

         25  a child is in the chair.
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All

          3  right.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  We're not

          5  fulfilling that yet.  We do not have mandatory

          6  dental checks.  It is not required for entry into

          7  schools.  One of our ideas for the restructuring was

          8  this kind of campaign approach where we would want

          9  to go into a school, get all the parental consents,

         10  do screenings on all the children and provide

         11  sealants.  That's one model that we would like to go

         12  to.  I think that we were not, at the time, ready to

         13  say that we think it should be mandatory but we do

         14  think it would be helpful for children.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  You

         16  think it's a good idea?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  For it to

         18  be mandatory?

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Yes.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  I think

         21  we have to be careful about mandating things, making

         22  sure that --

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Well, we

         24  do mandate that children have medical check- up

         25  before they come back to school in terms of, you
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          2  know, a certain age.  That they have the shots,

          3  whatever.  We do that already.  So, to say you're

          4  going to be careful now to do some sort of

          5  preventative measure, I don't know why you say we

          6  have to be that careful.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  I don't

          8  think we quite yet maximized the voluntary approach

          9  that we could have and I'd like to see us get much

         10  better at that.  I think, as you know, a lot of the

         11  health related mandatory issues are about infectious

         12  and communicable diseases which we would like to

         13  make sure aren't in our schools and I think this is

         14  a different kind of a problem.  We want to make sure

         15  that everybody is informed and there's parental

         16  consent involved here.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Is there

         18  a program with mobile vans that can be used with the

         19  schools in lieu of the fact that you only have it in

         20  a few of the schools.  Is there a program that you

         21  can set up with mobile vans for dental service?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  We, as I

         23  think you know, the NYU program has a dental van

         24  that's funded and we work closely with them.

         25  There's also a dental van, I believe, through the
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          2  Colgate program.  Vans are expensive and the

          3  particular model that we've chosen is much less so.

          4  We certainly would consider that as an option if we

          5  were able to do so.

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  You

          7  think that would be a good idea for us to- because

          8  you can then service different schools with the same

          9  mobile van instead of having a clinic that is

         10  stationary in one school.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  I think

         12  we can accomplish the same goal.  A van is one way

         13  of doing it but I think we can move- cause again

         14  this equipment is portable.  It's not fixed into the

         15  school site.  We'd like to be able to move it from

         16  school to school.  That's a very similar model which

         17  is it's going to one school, serving all of the kids

         18  and then moving on to the next school.  That's what

         19  we'd like to consider doing.

         20

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Yes, but

         22  what I'm looking at a dental chair is not an easy

         23  thing to move around.  All I'm saying basically, if

         24  we have the mobile van it might be able to service

         25  much more students at a quicker time and I think it
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          2  will be much more cost- effective.  Don't you think

          3  so?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  I think

          5  vans may be one solution but you also have to

          6  remember that then you need motor vehicle operators;

          7  there's expenses to keep up the van and so they

          8  often are much more expensive than understood in the

          9  beginning and require additional staff.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I think

         11  we should look into that.

         12                 In terms of your restructuring, will

         13  you be consulting with us as to what you'd be doing

         14  because I get the picture that what is happening is

         15  that we do things and then we come at a bottle neck

         16  where we fight over things.  For example, just

         17  recently I heard about the phasing out of some of

         18  these high schools and we hear about it in the

         19  papers and then we try to fight over it.  Is it the

         20  same thing that we trying to do here?

         21                 MR. MANNING:  Councilman, as I

         22  mentioned to Councilwoman James, we'll make every

         23  effort to make sure that the Council stays informed

         24  as these restructuring process goes forward. Working

         25  both directly and also with the Mayor's Office.  We
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          2  share and we understand the concerns that the

          3  Council has and we certainly understand the concerns

          4  of the community and we share many of the same

          5  concerns.  So it's never our intent to surprise

          6  anyone, to shock anyone, to sort of move forward

          7  without having made sure that we touched all

          8  appropriate bases and make sure that we got input

          9  where it was necessary in making these decision.

         10  Again, we're happy to keep the Council informed and

         11  briefed as this process moves forward.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All

         13  right.  We have been joined by -- oh, she left.

         14  Right.

         15                 Our next questioner is Council Member

         16  Martinez.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Thank you

         18  Mr. Sitting Chair.

         19                 I'm trying to be clear, when you say

         20  under-utilization, that doesn't mean that we don't

         21  have a need, correct?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  That's

         23  correct.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Having said

         25  that, what kind of policy has been set between the
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          2  Department of Education in terms of better

          3  coordination- I hear what you're saying that you

          4  need to do a better job of outreach.  I hear what

          5  you're saying that now you're speaking to parent

          6  coordinators, teachers and so forth.  But, at the

          7  level of the Chancellor, what commitment have been

          8  made to insure that if we have a dentist for an

          9  hour, for two hours, for three hours and there is a

         10  need in that school that that chair is not empty.  I

         11  understand what you're saying.  The focus is

         12  academics but how long would a child be- if we're

         13  doing preventive not doing intensive dental work-

         14  how long would a child be at a chair with doing

         15  preventive in terms of check- up and so forth that

         16  we cannot pull that child out if there is a need for

         17  services in that building.

         18                 So it's a two- folded question.  What

         19  kind of policy has been set at the Chancellor's

         20  level to insure that we provide the services.  And

         21  two, how long if we're doing preventive would it

         22  take to service that child per child in a chair.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  In regard

         24  to the first, I actually am not aware if there is or

         25  is not a written policy on behalf of the Chancellor.
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          2    I do know that the Chancellor and our Commissioner

          3  have spoken on this issue and the Chancellor has

          4  agreed that this is important and has agreed to work

          5  with us.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  But you

          7  understand that unless we start saying that we think

          8  it's important, we believe it's important.  Unless

          9  we set a policy just as we've done with other

         10  issues, health issues, such as obesity.  If we don't

         11  set up policy within the Department of Education and

         12  with the Department of Health that if we're gonna --

         13  we could restructure this three or four times.  But

         14  if we don't have a policy that sets the importance

         15  and the urgency to insure that if we have the

         16  resources to provide the dental health services in

         17  communities and schools that need them, then we're

         18  going to find ourselves in this same situation. It's

         19  got to come from above.  It's not going to come from

         20  a parent coordinator telling our parents, oh by the

         21  way we have a dentist available in the morning.  We

         22  have to have a policy.  We have to sent the message

         23  from the Chancellor's level and this needs to happen

         24  between Commissioner and the Chancellor that we have

         25  to send this policy down to our schools that if we
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          2  have the chairs available and we have the dentists

          3  available, we need to have our children being

          4  served.  Otherwise we're doing a disservice even

          5  with the restructuring.

          6                 So, in terms of- I want to understand

          7  a little bit better.  I know that Council Member

          8  James did a good job in terms of bringing some

          9  clarity in terms of the restructuring.  But one

         10  thing I missed, when you mentioned that when you're

         11  going now to make the dentists available in more

         12  schools, what do you mean by that?  Are these

         13  schools all going to have the chairs, the facility,

         14  the equipment available so that the dentists could

         15  rotate between schools?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  We're

         17  trying to think about when would present the best

         18  opportunity.  For example, a dental hygienist can

         19  actually apply sealants.  So, we're trying to think

         20  about ways in which we might go in with a team

         21  approach and maybe screen all the children.

         22  Identify who needs sealants.  Some children may

         23  already have them who might need referrals; who

         24  might need other activities and maybe have the

         25  dental hygienist be putting on sealants while the
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          2  dentist is taking care of perhaps other issues;

          3  filling cavities and so forth.

          4                 Then perhaps move the equipment on

          5  then to another school where we would try to screen

          6  and put on sealants and do all the dental work that

          7  we could with a new set of students in another

          8  school.  The idea here is to think about all the

          9  various missed opportunities that we may have had to

         10  do things in a somewhat different way.  It's not

         11  always, you know, bringing a child to the dentist in

         12  that one chair.  We might be able to go out and do

         13  some of these things in another way.

         14

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  And, how do

         16  you determine which communities, which schools you

         17  will have the clinics.  What do you use to determine

         18  that?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  Well,

         20  right now we already have locations.  We're looking

         21  for areas where there is a high proportion of kids

         22  who either are uninsured or have public health

         23  insurance.  Kids that are in neighborhoods that we

         24  know are generally underserved with medical care and

         25  we try to focus our efforts there obviously.  So,
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          2  there are other criteria in terms of principal

          3  interest.  We want to make sure that the principal

          4  is on board as you said.  Very important.  And we

          5  want to make sure that there is community and parent

          6  interest as well. You want to make sure that there's

          7  enough students in the school to make it worth while

          8  to move the equipment there.  We want to make sure

          9  that, for example, that the health center isn't

         10  right down the block perhaps but that we serve

         11  schools that might be located farther from the

         12  health centers.  There's a whole variety of criteria

         13  that we use.

         14                 We are also working very hard right

         15  now to identify schools in which there are Beacon

         16  Programs.  Because we really think that the after

         17  school hours will be very fruitful.  We've already

         18  seen that in at least one school that we tried this

         19  in.  It really gets rid of all the issues about sort

         20  of needing to pull kids from academic programs and

         21  also offers the opportunity for parents maybe to

         22  come in and meet the dentists and see what's

         23  happening and so forth.

         24                 So, we're looking towards perhaps

         25  working more with the Beacon Program to try to
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          2  identify hours that we could work. And sometimes

          3  those schools, as you know, are open quite late into

          4  the evening.  That would be a great opportunity for

          5  parents to come in not only with their child who's

          6  in the school but maybe their younger siblings who

          7  are not in that school.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Beacon is-

          9  again and you also mentioned that you're having

         10  conversations with the DYCD Commissioner on the use

         11  of the Beacons with us, is that right?  Or does the

         12  principal need to agree to this?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  I'm

         14  sorry.  I think that we're trying to work through

         15  all available ways in which we can get the Beacon

         16  Programs on board with this.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  But, you

         18  didn't answer the question.  Does the principal need

         19  to agree with this or the DVOs that has the contract

         20  for the Beacon needs to agree to it.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  It's both

         22  because we need a dedicated room in a school.  That

         23  room can't be used for anything else while we have

         24  equipment in it.  It has to be solely dedicated to

         25  this purpose so a principal has to agree that a room
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          2  in the school will be dedicated to this and will not

          3  be available to the general school population for

          4  anything else.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  That brings

          6  me back to that link.  That's the missing link, I

          7  think, that we need.  If we have a policy.  If we

          8  have a mandate for- and we have the statistic that

          9  shows us where we need to have these services

         10  available and we have the Chancellor's office saying

         11  and insuring that where we have the need; we have

         12  the services available and we're providing the

         13  services.  Cause obviously we have the need, we have

         14  the children that need the services.  If you build

         15  it they come, right?

         16                 So, if- and I understand that there

         17  are many complex issues now with the Empower Schools

         18  and there are many issues with principals having

         19  more autonomy and so forth.  But when it comes to

         20  health services and health issues and community of

         21  colors where many times many of our children is not

         22  insured or many times, as the Chair of the Committee

         23  mentioned, may not have access or means to get to.

         24  Having the services available where the needs are at

         25  and particularly in the schools where the population
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          2  is at, I think that the Chancellor plays a key role

          3  in setting the tone. I don't see how, if we could

          4  restructure a program, have the need and not

          5  providing the services, it just doesn't make any

          6  sense to me that even if you do the outreach via

          7  parent coordinators and, mind you, sometimes it's

          8  not the priority of the parent coordinators.  That's

          9  the reality.  Maybe the parent coordinator needs to

         10  get involved in doing parent workshop on a

         11  curriculum or something else and not so much the

         12  dental health needs of the population.

         13                 So, I really recommend that the

         14  Department of Education has a critical role to play

         15  in making sure that the delivery of services is

         16  done.  Cutting back from high school to elementary

         17  to junior high school- I agree that the earlier we

         18  start providing services the less we need them later

         19  on but there's still needs in communities such as

         20  immigrant communities where sometimes we have

         21  children that come at a later age that need the

         22  dental health services.

         23                 Like my district in particular.  Not

         24  all my school aged children are coming straight into

         25  the elementary and junior high school.  Some are
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          2  coming into the high school and there's still a need

          3  there.

          4                 So I could strongly suggest that, as

          5  you present your restructuring, for me the missing

          6  link here is the Department of Education.  A

          7  commitment from the Department of Education that if

          8  we are going to provide the services, we're going to

          9  make sure that the delivery of services take place.

         10  And I think that's what's happening here.  You can

         11  restructure this in many different pieces.  You can

         12  take the mobile vans outside and they're going to be

         13  empty.  You're not going to have no one out there if

         14  we don't have the commitment from the Department of

         15  Education making sure that the principals comply;

         16  that if there are students that need the services

         17  that they're going to receive the services.  You

         18  will see that you will meet beyond the 50% that you

         19  want to get to 2012 if we do this.  Cause the needs

         20  are there.

         21                 But we need to have the commitment of

         22  the Department of Education- if you take me out for

         23  15 minutes, I'm sure I'm not going to miss a lot.

         24  I'm gonna still know how to write, read and do my

         25  math for 15 or 20 minutes.  I think we need that
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          2  commitment from the Department of Education.  It

          3  cannot be a one- sided effort. I think your efforts

          4  are short right now if you don't have the Department

          5  of Education fully committed to the delivery of

          6  services.

          7                 Thank you Mr. Chair.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Before I

          9  call on our eminent attorney to question you again I

         10  would like to ask basically how many more schools

         11  you think that you have projected to serve.  You

         12  mentioned about going into more schools and you want

         13  to serve more students.  How many more schools

         14  you're thinking about?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  I

         16  actually don't think I have the answer for you at

         17  this time.  We'd like to try to-

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Well

         19  you-

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN: - try to

         21  explore this model and see if it works before we

         22  promise to do it all around the City so we're going

         23  to try in one or two places first.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  What I'm

         25  trying to get at is basically we need to know, if
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          2  you're talking about projection and you're talking

          3  about a plan you have to look to see at least get an

          4  idea of how many schools, how many students you want

          5  to serve.  The main question that I wanted to get to

          6  is you- have an idea of what the budget to use now-

          7  what is the projected budget that it will cost to do

          8  what you intend to do.  If you don't have that in

          9  mind and just blindly going at saying that you're

         10  serving more students, we have to know what kind of

         11  resources we're putting in to providing those

         12  services.  So if you could, at least, give me a

         13  guideline as to where we're going, then we can have

         14  a further discussion.  But if you don't know how

         15  many more students you want to serve, what schools

         16  you want to go to, how could you have a projection

         17  and talking about restructure?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  I think

         19  we want to get to the point where we can give you a

         20  little better idea of the numbers of students that

         21  we'd like to serve.  Right now we're not serving as

         22  many as we would like and we know that we want to

         23  increase that but at this time we're doing it within

         24  the current budget resources that we have.

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I don't
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          2  want to be difficult but I feel if I wanted more

          3  money I have to know at least where I'm going with.

          4  What my budget is going to be like.  That's how

          5  government works.

          6                 But let me ask the Council Member

          7  from Central Brooklyn who is an attorney to continue

          8  the questioning.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Thank you Dr.

         10  Stewart.

         11                 Just three last questions or four

         12  last questions, everyone is being- I shouldn't say

         13  everyone- pardon me for being very parochial but as

         14  I review this high school- based dental site, I

         15  noticed that none are in Downtown Brooklyn.  I

         16  represent Benjamin Banneker High School, Science

         17  Skills Tech, Medgar Evers High School, DuBois Bunche

         18  Sterling High School.  Can we get a center in

         19  Downtown Brooklyn, particularly since the Mayor

         20  wants to give all of this money to the New Jersey

         21  Nets and obviously I'm opposed to it.  I would think

         22  that we would be able to find some money for our

         23  children.  I just- that was for the Mayor, that

         24  wasn't- so if you could just again focus on Downtown

         25  Brooklyn.
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          2                 I do not represent Boys and Girls as

          3  they say, Boys and Girls high school.  It's a couple

          4  of blocks out of my district but those high schools

          5  that I mentioned, again, Benjamin Banneker, Science

          6  Skills Tech, Medgar Evers High School, DuBois Bunche

          7  Sterling High School.  And there's a number of new

          8  visions high schools that are house within public

          9  schools.  If we could make sure that we get a high

         10  school- based dental site.  That would be greatly

         11  appreciated.

         12                 Again, I'm open- not only do I talk

         13  but I am interested in putting some of my individual

         14  expense dollars behind this project.

         15                 Let me also say this.  I have two

         16  nieces.  One is five, one is seven- three nieces-

         17  one is three, one is five and one is seven.  When do

         18  molars come in?  I don't know.  Six.  About 6?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  Six years

         20  old.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  So, my oldest

         22  niece who's seven, she doesn't have her molars yet

         23  and she is in I believe either the first or second

         24  grade.  I'm not sure.  And so my question is, if

         25  your molars are not in and if you provide only
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          2  sealants then what good is it?  Or am I not- you

          3  understand what I'm saying?  What's the sense of

          4  putting in sealants to children whose teeth are

          5  falling out because they haven't matured to a level

          6  of- do you understand what I'm saying?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  Well, I'm

          8  not a dentist so I really don't want to make any

          9  diagnosis or speak to a specific child's dental care

         10  but I think what we would say is this.  We think-

         11  the recommendations from the American Dental

         12  Association is that every child sees a dentist

         13  fairly early on in their life.  I'm not sure what

         14  the current recommendations are but they're much,

         15  much younger.  I'm sorry.  It's starting at a fairly

         16  young age.

         17

         18                 So this is really an adjunct to

         19  dental care in the community.  We expect that our

         20  dental services are not going to be the only dental

         21  care that any child receives in their life.

         22  Certainly we would say that children, before they

         23  get into school, should go see a dentist. Clearly if

         24  you don't have molars or pre molars you're not going

         25  to get sealants but the idea of a screening and
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          2  checking out to make sure that there are other

          3  things that you might want to be referred for more

          4  extensive work is something we would certainly want

          5  to do.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  So what

          7  services would you provide to those children who

          8  don't have their pre- molars or molars if you're

          9  only focusing on preventive?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  I think,

         11  again, right now our dentists do a whole variety of

         12  things and they do see children who don't have their

         13  molars in.  What we're saying is we'd like to move

         14  steadily to a model where we're increasing our

         15  sealant application considerably so that we can be

         16  doing the right preventive work for the kids who do

         17  have their molars in which eventually all kids will

         18  get.

         19                 So what we want to do is make sure

         20  that in those molars that they don't get cavities in

         21  the future and sealants are extremely effective in

         22  doing that.  In a model where we would go into a

         23  school and do screenings of all the children we

         24  might find issues and anomalies that would either be

         25  taken care by the dentist there or be referred
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          2  appropriately.  And by referral I don't just mean a

          3  passive referral like here's a piece a paper go see

          4  a doctor or dentist.  But I mean helping that family

          5  make an appointment. Following up to make sure they

          6  got there.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  I guess if we

          8  lived in a perfect world I would be married with

          9  children and living behind a gated field somewhere

         10  in the suburbs but we don't have that.  So a lot of

         11  the children that I represent are living and have

         12  other issues that they're dealing with and other

         13  challenges that they're facing and unfortunately

         14  their families do not take them to the dentist on a

         15  monthly or annually or take them to the dentist

         16  period.  So, the only opportunity that we have to

         17  take care of their dental needs are in the school.

         18  So, for those children who do not have their molars

         19  or their pre-molars I just hope that we can provide

         20  them again with those wide range of services and

         21  that we just not move to a preventive model.  Again,

         22  I'm sure that my colleagues here, I know my

         23  colleagues who are present would work with you as we

         24  go forward in this budget to put aside some of that

         25  surplus money and even some of the City money to
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          2  provide dental care to children.  Thank you.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I just

          4  want to continue -- before I continue I want to

          5  recognize Inez Dickens, Council Member from Harlem

          6  who has joined us.

          7                 In terms of the high schools that we

          8  are dealing with right now that we have the clinics,

          9  I noticed that some of these high schools we have

         10  phased out these high schools- in some we have like

         11  four schools or five schools within that high

         12  school. We call it a campus whatever.  In phasing

         13  out those schools in a sense to make it four or five

         14  schools, it creates a problem with space.  How does

         15  this phasing out and now having the problem with

         16  space affects us now with the clinics that you must

         17  have a dedicated space for that clinic?  Anyone

         18  looked into that? Because you have here that George

         19  Wingate?? High Schools there's supposed to be a

         20  clinic there.  Now you have four schools there.  I

         21  would like to know what effect that has- the four

         22  schools loosing space because you have more schools.

         23    There's no real time and bells and all of those

         24  things.  How is that impacting on the fact that we

         25  have a clinic there and we need that space for
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          2  dedicated space.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  I think

          4  when there are multiple schools in one building it

          5  certainly creates a bigger challenge.  We still have

          6  in those particular high schools a dedicated room.

          7  If those schools chose to ask us to leave that

          8  dedicated room we would not be able to provide

          9  services there.  But that, as far as I'm aware, has

         10  not happened at this time.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Well we

         12  have a few more schools that are going to be faced

         13  with that problem and I recommend that we use the

         14  dental van.  You said that it might be much more

         15  expensive and you give some excuse about that and I

         16  was wondering with the schools, for example, Tilden

         17  High School which is slated to be phased out to

         18  become a campus with four or five different schools

         19  between that school.  Right now I know there's going

         20  to be a problem with space with four or five schools

         21  within that school.  Not only based on just the name

         22  of the school but based on logistics there got to be

         23  a problem as far as space is concerned.  When that

         24  occurs I'm wondering how we'll be able to serve the

         25  students.  If we have a clinic there we may have to
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          2  phase out that clinic or move that clinic and we may

          3  have to use dental vans.  So, those are some of the

          4  things I'm looking at right now. I don't know if you

          5  have a comment to make on that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  No I don't

          7  think I have any additional insights on this issue.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All

          9  right.  Is there any further questions for this

         10  panel?  Yes, Ms. Dickens.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Thank you

         12  Mr. Chair.

         13                 I have a question and I apologize for

         14  my lateness but I was in Landuse and I have some

         15  serious issues in my district and we just broke.

         16                 Are these the ones that are existing?

         17  Is this a list of the existing?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  Yes.

         19  That's a list simply of the high schools where we

         20  currently have a dental room.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Does this

         22  mean that these are going to be affected either

         23  downsized and/or closed?  Any of these?  I'm asking

         24  that question now.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  At this
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          2  time, some of them we're intending to reduce hours

          3  in some of these schools.  Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  But they

          5  will all remain open even if it's downsized by

          6  hours.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  At this

          8  time that's our current plan.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Downsizing

         10  means that you will revisit it and possibly close

         11  some of them.  You know I notice there's none in

         12  East Harlem.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  I wasn't

         14  actually with the program when these sites where

         15  picked so I have to tell you honestly I don't really

         16  know why one high school was picked over-

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  I'm sorry?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  That's

         19  right.  There actually is- thank you for reminding

         20  me.  This is Joyce Weinstein, our Assistant

         21  Commissioner for Board of Health Programs.  We do

         22  have a site in the East Harlem Health Center which

         23  has a dental chair.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  You're

         25  talking about the one on 115th Street?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  Yes,

          3  that's correct.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Cause I

          5  didn't-

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  Right.

          7  That's not- these are the high schools.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: - these are

          9  the high schools.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  This is

         11  not a full list of schools.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  All right.

         13  In downsizing is it just hours you're going to

         14  downsize on or is it actually the dental work that

         15  will be done?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  At this

         17  time we're talking about hours. Certainly with high

         18  school students they present and we need to take

         19  care of their dental-

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  What are the

         21  hours that it's open now?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  Each

         23  school has different hours that are open.  All the

         24  schedules are very different.  Some are open a

         25  couple of hours-
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Just an

          3  average.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  I believe

          5  the average is three to four- I think it was in the

          6  testimony- three to four hours a day.  Two to three

          7  days a week.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  What type of

          9  outreach is done to the parents because I noticed in

         10  part of your testimony you said that sometimes in

         11  some of the sites it was under- utilized. What type

         12  of outreach is done on- going?  Not as a one time,

         13  one shot deal but on- going outreach to the parents

         14  and the PTA if there is one.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  I have to

         16  say, honestly, it varies by school.  I don't know

         17  that we do as good a job as we need to on this

         18  issue, quite frankly.  I think that we do coordinate

         19  with- we provide brochures on our program.  We talk

         20  to the principal.  We talk to the parent

         21  coordinators and we do, in fact, as I've said

         22  previously, we do get parental consents in order to

         23  do any work at all so we do have to reach out to the

         24  parents.  But I think that there are methods that we

         25  could use to do better work doing outreach to
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          2  parents.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Because at

          4  Frederick Douglas Academy which is a site that is in

          5  my district many of the parents didn't know that

          6  this existed in the school.  So that's why I was

          7  very concerned about the outreach and now you're

          8  talking about downsizing.  And I understand you're

          9  talking about budget. But that's something that we

         10  need to work with you closely about because when you

         11  take away the hours then obviously that's going to

         12  affect the dental care that our youth will receive

         13  and when you have a toothache, then you can't learn.

         14    You can't concentrate.

         15                 So, you talk about hours in the

         16  morning.  I see also you refer to the hours in the

         17  morning- the morning hours were dedicated to

         18  academia.  While that may be true but if you have a

         19  toothache, academics doesn't mean much.  So I am

         20  very concerned about the downsizing of the hours

         21  particularly since it's already short.  Our youth do

         22  need the dental care because, contrary to thought

         23  about the availability of insurances and Medicaid,

         24  the truth of the matter is that most of our youth

         25  get their dental care from school when they know
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          2  about it.  That's just the fact of life. They don't

          3  go to- they're not taken to a dentist in either a

          4  hospital or any other private facility for dental

          5  care.

          6                 Frequently, sometimes the teacher's

          7  the one who sees that there's a problem with oral

          8  care for a child.  And now that we've learned so

          9  much in addition to just the teeth, the gums that if

         10  we don't have the availability of the proper

         11  education and health care for the gums then your

         12  teeth are going to fall out. You don't have to worry

         13  about there being a cavity.

         14                 So, I just wanted to state that and I

         15  was concerned about the East side because I did not

         16  see that in East Harlem. Thank you so much for your

         17  testimony.

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  We have

         19  just been joined by Council Member Yvette Clarke

         20  from Central Brooklyn. I don't know if she has any

         21  questions at this time.  Before she ask a question,

         22  I would like to know.  All we are speaking about

         23  here is restructuring and talking about sometimes

         24  the hours are there and you want to cut some of the

         25  hours, etc.  But I haven't seen anything that you
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          2  have said that would tell us what you're going to do

          3  to make sure that the children use the services that

          4  is provided.  What plans do we have to show that- I

          5  ask about mandatory and you say well you don't think

          6  we should go that route. What is the plan for us to

          7  make sure that the students use the service?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  I think

          9  it's a good and it's a fair question.  I think what

         10  we're trying to do is to make sure that every hour a

         11  dentist is in a school there is a child in that

         12  chair and that is not true today.  There are schools

         13  where we are not seeing that we don't have the

         14  utilization that we would like.

         15                 What we need to do as a program is

         16  actually get much better at doing outreach to make

         17  sure that, in fact I think the point has been well

         18  made here that we need to make the parents are

         19  informed that the services are available and that

         20  they give us their written consent for us to see

         21  their children.  There are many ways to do that but

         22  it does require a somewhat different approach. As

         23  you may know, we need to have in order for a dentist

         24  to be actively working we need a dental assistant to

         25  work with that dentist.
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          2                 So instead of having perhaps, this is

          3  just hypothetical but, a dentist and a dental

          4  assistant in a site from 8:30 to 3:00 two days a

          5  week and not have kids in the chair half the time,

          6  perhaps we need to have the dentist there only one

          7  day a week and have the dental assistant or dental

          8  hygienist really doing the outreach the rest of the

          9  time.  This is what I mean by restructuring and

         10  maximizing the right personnel for the right task.

         11  We don't necessarily want- I think dentists are very

         12  good spokes people for the importance of dental

         13  care.  I think we want to get them out as much as

         14  possible to things like PTA meetings and so forth

         15  where they can directly say listen I'm in your

         16  school and I'd love to see your kids and here's how

         17  you get to see me.  We'd like to see that happen

         18  too.

         19                 But we also want to be able to employ

         20  our staff in the most effective way.  So sometimes

         21  that doesn't necessarily mean they have a dentist in

         22  the room.  It might mean having different kind of

         23  staff there too to really make sure that we're

         24  maximizing our dental time.

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I
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          2  understand what you're saying but I try to look at

          3  it from a different perspective. I want to know- yes

          4  you try to reduce the hours a dentist is there or

          5  the assistant is there and all of that because the

          6  chair is not being used.  The point is what are we

          7  doing to get the student into the chair.  That's my

          8  point.  What are we doing in terms of getting the

          9  preventive service and all- that's what I'm looking

         10  at and not necessarily to reduce the hours because

         11  the chairs are not being used.

         12                 I want to know how we can use the

         13  chairs instead of saying  well they're not using the

         14  chairs.  We're going to get rid of the hours in

         15  terms of how many hours a dentist is there or the

         16  assistant or the dental technician is there.  I am

         17  asking basically how can we get the children to use

         18  the chairs instead.  Instead of removing the

         19  dentist, let's increase the use.  That's what I'm

         20  saying.  Instead of reducing we want to increase the

         21  use.  So I want to know what plans you have to make

         22  that happen and if not I think we should go back and

         23  look to see what we can do to at least increase, you

         24  know, we can come up with some kind of plans to do

         25  that.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  I think

          3  we've been trying to describe what our plans are and

          4  they vary by school and by the particular situation

          5  but I think what we're trying to do is really get to

          6  the parents and get to the school communities so

          7  that the school community knows that we're there and

          8  the parents know that we're there.  I think the

          9  vehicles that we do that with, our current staff who

         10  then could be deployed for additional outreach

         11  activities.  Making sure that every parent gets

         12  information at the beginning of the school year but

         13  not just once.  Many times going to the parent

         14  meetings and so forth.  We want to be able to tailor

         15  our programs to the kids' schedules so that if we

         16  can do things in a Beacon Program.  For example, we

         17  want to invite all the parents as they sign up for

         18  the Beacon Programs and hear information and get

         19  newsletters from the Beacon School; that information

         20  about that there will be dental hours during the

         21  Beacon Program would be available to parents.

         22                 We want to strengthen our

         23  partnerships where we can with not only the school

         24  community but with all of you and your offices and

         25  other community based organizations who might have
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          2  interest in this.  For example, we work very closely

          3  with the Community Service Society through their

          4  Medicaid outreach program and we'll be hoping that

          5  they would be getting this information out to

          6  parents as well.  We want, in general- we would like

          7  to improve awareness that our program is there but I

          8  think part of that specifically is not just

          9  improving awareness but the very specific task of

         10  getting a parental consent on file so that we can

         11  see that child.  So we actually have to see the

         12  parent or really get to that parent so that's why

         13  we're emphasizing talking to the parents because

         14  it's about getting that connection made.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  What

         16  type of time line do you have on this plan that

         17  we're talking about?  What time line do you have?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  We're

         19  working very hard to be able to move towards at

         20  least one or two of these pilot models in the winter

         21  and spring to evaluate them.  To see what's been

         22  successful; what's not and then to make sure that

         23  we're in really good shape I think going into the

         24  next school year.  But we would like to see if some

         25  of these new models- this campaign approach, for
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          2  example, in the school actually works before we go

          3  ahead and decide what we would do throughout the

          4  City.

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Council

          6  Member Clarke.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Thank you,

          8  Mr. Chair, and thank you for your testimony here

          9  today.

         10                 I was just discussing with Council

         11  Member Inez Dickens that it's amazing how times have

         12  changed.  I can recall my days in the public school

         13  when my first actual dental screening was done in my

         14  public school.  That's how my family was able to

         15  keep tabs on when my baby teeth were falling out and

         16  my new teeth were coming in and things of that

         17  nature.

         18                 I think the difference then was that

         19  parents were actively engaged and informed about

         20  programs or activities at the school that they could

         21  avail themselves of.  Part of, I guess, the

         22  challenge here is making that connect.  Because

         23  there's no doubt, in my mind, that the need for this

         24  service is there.  It really is about how innovative

         25  we can become in terms of getting parents that level
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          2  of awareness so that they are signing the parental

          3  consents.

          4                 Perhaps having a brochure which

          5  includes the parental consent that is attached to a

          6  report card could be a mechanism for getting that

          7  done.  The PACs and the PTAs, all of those

          8  organizations that interact with parents; that

          9  brochure with that parental consent in it.

         10  Identifying that person who would just sit and let

         11  the parent know you should have your child sign up

         12  for this.  Walking them through that I know that we

         13  have a lot of grateful parents that would love to

         14  make sure that their children have access to quality

         15  dental care.

         16                 Right now, you know, a lot of parents

         17  are just waiting for their kid's teeth to fall out

         18  because that is the dental care.  If your teeth

         19  don't fall out then your teeth are okay.  That's

         20  generally speaking- that's not to cast any

         21  dispersions but that's a reality in a lot of folks

         22  life who can't get to the dentist on an annual

         23  basis.

         24                 So, I would like to explore other

         25  means of really making this much more widely known.
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          2  Because I know just in the radius of the George

          3  Wingate?? High School you have so many middle

          4  schools; you have so many elementary schools and

          5  that campus itself has been restructured to include

          6  I think about four or five different high schools.

          7  There's a great catchment area there that could

          8  really utilize these services.  Have you thought

          9  about perhaps doing a campaign of that nature that

         10  really heightens people's awareness around the fact

         11  that this exists.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  We would

         13  love to work with you on ideas and all the COUNCIL

         14  MEMBER on ideas about how to improve the outreach

         15  programs.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  I appreciate

         17  that.  Mr. Chair, I just wanted to say that I'm

         18  sorry for being late.  I had the Land Use meeting

         19  just prior to this as well.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Just

         21  don't do it again.  At this time I would like to

         22  call-

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  You see how

         24  they treat me here?  Thank you Mr. Chair.

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I'd like
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          2  to call on Rosie Mendez.  Council Member Mendez.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ:  Thank you

          4  very much.  I also want to apologize to the Chair.

          5  They scheduled several hearings at the same time.

          6                 So, I wasn't here for a lot of your

          7  testimony.  I'm going to apologize if I may be

          8  repetitive but, at least I didn't hear the answer

          9  while I was here.  So I'm going to ask the question

         10  now.  I went to public schools and in elementary

         11  school we always had the dentist and we always had

         12  to hand in forms that we were either seeing a

         13  dentist outside.  Whether you saw a dentist outside

         14  or in they always gave you those red pills so they

         15  could show where your cavities were coming in and

         16  then we would get home and our parents would realize

         17  they had to send us back to the dentist yet again.

         18  Now I don't recall by the time I got to middle

         19  school and high school, I don't recall that process

         20  happening.  I am a little older than I look.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  You're

         22  not a sophomore is what you're telling us.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ:  But it was a

         24  good process in elementary school.  It should be

         25  implemented in the middle schools. High school I
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          2  think it gets a little harder to implement because

          3  having been there you think you're independent.

          4  Speaking to some of my friends who are teachers,

          5  it's hard to get parents to come in for parent-

          6  teacher night and find out how their kids are doing

          7  in school.  I see all of these high schools and one

          8  actually in my district and one just outside my

          9  district.

         10                 So, how do we do this and is there a

         11  way from taking it from the younger grades up where

         12  you do have more access to the parents and the

         13  children?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  I think

         15  the conundrum of how we work best, we meaning all of

         16  us with parents in the districts and in the schools,

         17  is really something that we stand to learn a lot

         18  from you all about how the best way is to do this.

         19  Sometimes it's directly related to the school,

         20  sometimes it may be in other community venues where

         21  we find parents.  I think you're right that we

         22  perhaps have more parent engagement in the

         23  elementary and middle schools.

         24                 I think, perhaps this is a little

         25  confusing we're actually hoping to move towards the
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          2  younger kids to do the prevention.  I think you're

          3  right, we want to go into classrooms perhaps and do

          4  whole classes at a time where we do exactly what

          5  you're talking about and do dental education and get

          6  the kids in for their sealants and their preventive

          7  care.  I think when you get to high schools it is

          8  harder to engage kids in a variety of ways and we

          9  have to figure out how to do that on many levels.

         10                 In this particular case we're saying

         11  that we think the evidence says that prevention is

         12  best done with the elementary and the middle

         13  schools.  That is not, in any way, to say that high

         14  school students don't deserve dental care.  We

         15  believe that every child should have a dental home

         16  just like they should have a medical home and we'd

         17  like to figure out a way to perhaps for the high

         18  schools really as I've said before try to get them

         19  hooked up to a dental home.  It may not be in their

         20  school but it may be in the community.  And there

         21  are dental providers in the community and I

         22  recognize that we do need to work more closely to

         23  identify them and to help parents know not just

         24  what's in their school but what's in their

         25  immediately community and how to access that
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          2  effectively.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ:  Is it still

          4  required in public schools for students to bring in

          5  a form from their dentist if their seeing an outside

          6  dentist?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  No.  My

          8  understanding is that there is no requirement.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ:  And why not

         10  if we used to have it required when we were younger?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  I don't

         12  know anything about a previous requirement and why

         13  it might have been stopped.  I just don't have any

         14  information on that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ:  We can make

         16  it so I think at this table.  We'll talk about

         17  making that.  Also at the- this is more of a

         18  comment- having been hormonally challenged in high

         19  school as all of us were.  What does that mean is,

         20  you know, that's when you discover your sexuality

         21  and you start dating.  If you start about- it's

         22  about vanity.  No but it's about vanity if you go at

         23  it from a grooming and dating, you'll get more high

         24  school students involved cause that's really what

         25  they're interested in. Their next date.  Thank you.
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  At this

          3  time I'll ask Council Member Arroyo.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  Thank you Mr.

          5  Chair.  I absolutely appreciate Rosie's take on

          6  this.  My question as a follow- up to the request

          7  for information from students on an annual basis, it

          8  was always a requirement.  There were these little

          9  slips that the dentist had to fill out if you went

         10  outside.  So, it's no longer required.  I think we

         11  need to deal with the issue of policy in the

         12  department in order to encourage parents to be

         13  participating in this process.

         14                 My experience as a health care

         15  administrator, working in a community center for

         16  many, many years is that parents very much want

         17  their child to see a dentist.  If they are aware

         18  that the service is available, the waiting list is

         19  two and a half years long.  So, I think we need to

         20  pay closer attention to the information marketing of

         21  these services being available on site in the

         22  school.  Leave them there, first of all.  And then

         23  work together to make sure that there's a public

         24  awareness campaign around the resource being

         25  available.  This is not about it's not available, we
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          2  have to come up with the money for it.  It's there.

          3

          4                 I'd like to suggest that maybe you

          5  can provide all of the COUNCIL MEMBER with a list of

          6  where these programs are located.  In my annual,

          7  biannual newsletter I have an information corner

          8  where I provide information to my constituents about

          9  things that they should know about.  Maybe I can

         10  include this- all the lists of the schools in my

         11  district for parents to know that you have this

         12  resource available to you in order for them to take

         13  advantage of it.  My experience has been parents

         14  absolutely want their children to receive dental

         15  services.  The problem is always finding them

         16  available timely.  If this is something that's there

         17  then we must take advantage of the opportunity.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:  That

         19  would be terrific, thank you very much.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I want

         21  to thank the panel for really opening up for us and

         22  we hope that we can work together before any final

         23  decision is being made so that at least we can move

         24  forward.  I hope that it's not that you make the

         25  decision and then institute it and then tell us
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          2  after the fact and we find ourselves in a situation

          3  that we are.  I want to thank you folks for such

          4  great, the women yes, for such great questions.

          5                 Our next panel I must let you know

          6  from Doctors Council.  Next panel, Dr. Barry

          7  Liebowitz.  Dr. Allen Gold.  Dr. Leslie Joseph.  Dr.

          8  David Yodes (phonetic), right.  And Dr. Garry

          9  Peters.  We need another chair there?  Sergeant at

         10  Arms we need another chair for the panel.  Someone

         11  is missing -- oh, he's coming. We need another

         12  chair.

         13                 Doctors, what I would expect you to

         14  do is basically this: You would identify yourself

         15  and, as you identify yourself you then get into your

         16  testimony.  We will wait until everyone has

         17  testified and then we'll ask questions of the panel,

         18  then ask questions; all right?

         19                 DR. LIEBOWITZ:  Yes.  Shall we begin?

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Make

         21  sure the button is pressed.

         22                 DR. LIEBOWITZ:  Yes.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All

         24  right and you identify yourself who you are.

         25                 DR. LIEBOWITZ:  I am Dr. Barry
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          2  Liebowitz, pediatrician as well as the President of

          3  Doctors Council.

          4                 My testimony.  I would of changed my

          5  testimony had I heard what the Department said but

          6  I'll read what I've written.

          7                 Good afternoon Mr. Chair and Member

          8  of the Committee.  My name is Dr. Barry Liebowitz.

          9  I am President of Doctors Council which represents

         10  more than 3,000 members including the 16 full- time

         11  and 32 part- time dentists working in the City's

         12  Oral Health Program.  To both my right and to my

         13  left we have the real working dentists.

         14                 While we are pleased that the

         15  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene has

         16  rescinded its original plan to layoff dentists and

         17  dental assistants working the City's Oral Health

         18  Program, it is still important to publicly discuss

         19  this essential program and suggests ways to

         20  strengthen it.  We would like to thank Chairman

         21  Rivera and Speaker Quinn for providing such an

         22  opportunity.

         23                 The Oral Health Program began in New

         24  York City public schools in 1903.  This program is

         25  103 old.  A lot has changed in dentistry over the
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          2  last century.  But at least one thing has not- the

          3  best way to insure our city's neediest children get

          4  the dental care they require is by providing

          5  dentistry on- site in schools.  By providing on-

          6  site in school dental services, we insure that

          7  problems are diagnosed and treatment is provided

          8  rather than merely hoping that the child's family

          9  will make dental care a priority.

         10                 The research is very clear.  Poor

         11  dental health in children can lead to a lifetime of

         12  disease and malnutrition and affect every aspect of

         13  a child's development including learning. Indeed,

         14  tooth decay is one of the most common chronic

         15  childhood diseases with poor children suffering

         16  twice as much.

         17                 More than 51 million school hours are

         18  lost each year to dental-related illnesses and

         19  studies have demonstrated that poor oral care has

         20  been related to decreased school performance, poor

         21  social relationships and less success later in life.

         22  According to the 2000 Surgeon General's report as

         23  well as the New York State Oral Health Coalition's

         24  report, school- based dental programs may be the

         25  best way to reduce the oral health disparity that
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          2  currently exists amongst children of poverty.

          3                 While we have not seen the

          4  Department's plan to restructure the program, I urge

          5  the Department to take an opportunity to expand, to

          6  modernize and to improve the program. One of the

          7  mantra's of this Administration is do more with less

          8  and one of Mayor Bloomberg's hallmarks, in addition

          9  to investing millions in public health care, has

         10  been the utilization of technology to improve public

         11  outreach about city services.  Their creation of 311

         12  epitomizes this ingenuity.  To that end, I would now

         13  like to offer the Department some practical

         14  suggestions and later my colleagues will provide

         15  additional comments and suggestions.

         16                 Start by enabling parents to access

         17  information about the program; obtain parental

         18  consent forms and schedule appointments by using

         19  311.

         20                 Second, publicize the Oral Health

         21  Program.  We need to engage teachers, parents,

         22  school administrators, PTAs and community

         23  organizations in a new campaign to save our

         24  children's dental health.

         25                 Third, invest in the Oral Health
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          2  Program by implementing a system of electronic

          3  medical records that would easily be accessed by

          4  dentists anywhere and anytime.  Presently, if a

          5  child transfers from one school to another, and it

          6  happens often, the supervising dentist has to

          7  physically go to the previous school to obtain the

          8  record and give to the dentist at the new school.

          9  This time is wasted.  Time that could be otherwise

         10  be spent in seeing patients.

         11                 I would like, once again, to thank

         12  the City Council for holding this hearing.  As you

         13  contemplate the Oral Health Program, consider it a

         14  natural extension of our collective fight to improve

         15  and preserve our children's health.  Thank you.

         16                 DR. GOLD:  Good afternoon, Mr.

         17  Chairman, ladies and gentlemen.  My name is Dr.

         18  Allen Gold.  Hello.  How's that.  Okay. Thank you.

         19  Okay.  Good afternoon Mr. Chairman, ladies and

         20  gentlemen.  My name is Dr. Allen Gold.  I have

         21  worked as a dentist in the Oral Health Program in

         22  New York City Public Schools from 1971 to 1998.

         23  Since 1998, I have worked full-time in the Corona

         24  Health Center.

         25                 I was deeply disturbed to learn that

                                                            94

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  the Department of Health was considering extensive

          3  cuts and layoffs in the Oral Health Program because

          4  this program that needs more support not less.

          5  While I have not seen DOH's proposed restructuring

          6  plans, I am concerned that the Department is looking

          7  to do away with complex dental procedures and

          8  instead focus solely on performing preventive

          9  procedures like cleaning and sealants and primarily

         10  for younger students.  This would be a terrible

         11  mistake.

         12                 First of all, sealants can only be

         13  applied when a child has their six- year molars

         14  which come in between the ages of five and a half

         15  and eight.  Last week, I treated a five year old

         16  who's face was swollen due to an abscess.  A sealant

         17  will not solve his problem.  Nor are sealants the

         18  answer for many, many dental diseases which require

         19  more complex treatments such as root canals. But in

         20  the Department of Health's original plan to

         21  restructure this program announced in September, a

         22  plan that included many layoffs, the only dentist in

         23  Queens that performs root canals would have been

         24  fired from his post in the Corona Health Clinic.

         25  Without a root canal, tooth extraction is the only
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          2  alternative.

          3

          4                 Without in- school dental care, many

          5  of these children will suffer.  We cannot make

          6  parents take their children to get dental care but

          7  we (sic) can do provide those services right there

          8  in the schools where they are.

          9                 I urge the Department of Health to

         10  think about what they are doing as they look at the

         11  future of this crucial public health program that

         12  helps so many of our City's neediest children.

         13                 The Department of Health can and must

         14  make it better.  First, provide more dental service

         15  to our neediest patients.  Second, improve the

         16  appointment process to reduce the number of patients

         17  who fail to keep their appointments.  Such an

         18  overhaul worked in Health and Hospital Corporation

         19  and it can work here.  The City just needs to make

         20  the effort and it is a worthy effort, I guarantee

         21  you.

         22                 Lastly, I would like to note that I

         23  see patients who arrive here from all over the

         24  world. I have a globe in my office to remind me that

         25  this City, and Queens in particular, is home to many
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          2  immigrants often from places where tooth decay is

          3  rampant.  We have an obligation to correct these

          4  problems and prevent new problems from occurring.

          5                 The mechanism is here.  It is the

          6  work that my colleagues and I provide each and every

          7  day at public schools and health centers throughout

          8  the City.  Allow us to continue to help these

          9  children in the most effective manner possible.

         10  Thank you.

         11                 DR. JOSEPH:  Good afternoon, Mr.

         12  Chair, Members of the Committee.  My name is Dr.

         13  Leslie Joseph and I have been a dentist with the

         14  Oral Health Program since 1989.

         15                 Currently, I provide dental care to

         16  public school children in Washington Heights and in

         17  the Bronx.  In recent years, new scientific reports

         18  have linked poor oral health to adverse general

         19  health outcomes.  Chronic gum infections play a role

         20  in increasing the risk of heart disease and a strong

         21  association between gum infection and diabetes has

         22  also been reported.  The emergence of poor oral

         23  health as a risk factor for poor general health

         24  demonstrate that oral health care must be treated as

         25  an essential component of health programs and
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          2  policies.  I commend the City Council for holding

          3  this oversight hearing.

          4                 I have spend a great deal of time

          5  discussing ways to improve this essential program

          6  with my colleagues and would like to spend some

          7  testimony offering the Council and the Department of

          8  Health some practical suggestions.

          9                 One, the hours of operation should be

         10  expanded to include at least one hour before school

         11  begins and one hour after school ends.  This will

         12  enable us to treat, not only prevent, but also to

         13  treat more patients more effectively.

         14                 Have the regional directors perform

         15  screenings at least once a week.  Currently,

         16  regional directors who are dentists don't perform

         17  any clinical work.

         18                 Simplify the parental consent form

         19  making it more user friendly.

         20                 Do a needs- based assessment at the

         21  school and establishing clear guidelines that would

         22  ensure easier access to the schools.  Right now, if

         23  the principal says no we cannot get in. Other times

         24  we're given access but the times are not optional.

         25  This should be worked out before we into the
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          2  schools.

          3                 Another suggestion would be to simply

          4  invest more money into staffing the program

          5  including having a director with a dental background

          6  to head the program so we can not only provide

          7  preventive services but treatment services as well.

          8  Our productivity is limited by the resources the

          9  Department of Health dedicates to us.

         10                 Right now, the New York State

         11  Department of Health recognize that 30% of need

         12  remains untreated.  Also Beacon Schools, while a

         13  great idea, does not necessarily equal need.  Before

         14  we go into the school, there should be a screening

         15  process to see if the need is there before we go in.

         16                 I thank you for your time.

         17                 MR. LEVINE:  Good afternoon Mr. Chair

         18  and Members of the Committee.  My name is Ayelet

         19  Yoles.  I have been a dentist in the Oral Health

         20  Program since September of 2005 so I'm the newest on

         21  the block here. I treat children of all ages at

         22  several public schools throughout the Bronx.  I'm

         23  also one of the many dentists originally slated for

         24  termination by the Department of Health.

         25                 Before I continue with my testimony I
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          2  just want to emphasize again I think what this panel

          3  is saying is that- and this is the first I heard of

          4  it today- that yes, ideologically, public health

          5  entities often think about prevention.  While that

          6  looks really great on paper, the reality with dental

          7  health is that prevention, sealants and all that is

          8  a good adjunct but it cannot be a total, total

          9  policy.  You need to have treatment, okay.

         10

         11                 I think that was brought up a little

         12  bit here when we discussed what sealants were.  I'm

         13  also very impressed at the level of dental knowledge

         14  here but sealants are for permanent teeth only.

         15  Really, they are not utilized for primary teeth

         16  because they're not really indicated because the way

         17  of cavities are formed on primary teeth.  So let me

         18  continue.

         19                 I'd like to briefly outline what it

         20  is that I do everyday in the Bronx and what my

         21  colleagues do for school children throughout the

         22  City.

         23                 Utilizing clinics located right in

         24  the schools, I examine, diagnose and treat my young

         25  patients.  I can tell you that the degree of dental
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          2  disease among the population of Bronx school

          3  children is alarming.  Many of my patients are first

          4  generation Americans, like myself, whose parents

          5  immigrated from countries where dental care was not

          6  a priority.

          7                 These school dental clinics are often

          8  the only source of dental care that these children

          9  have received.  We are able to diagnose and treat

         10  minor and serious infections and also to perform the

         11  important preventative procedures that help children

         12  achieve good dental health.  I'm very proud of this

         13  program and how it has helped so many children in

         14  and beyond the Bronx.  In fact, just this morning as

         15  Dr. Gold had an example just this morning a few

         16  hours ago, I had a patient who came to see me with a

         17  facial swelling that was a result of a dental

         18  infection that had broken through the bone and

         19  entered soft tissue.  If I had to refer this patient

         20  out, when would she had gotten the treatment she

         21  needed? So, I'm so glad that I was there this

         22  morning to be able to take care of her and also to

         23  educate her and her parent by phone, cause her

         24  parent was not there, what we were going to do to

         25  prevent this from happening in the future.
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          2                 Now I'd like to spend some time

          3  painting a picture of what would happen if this

          4  program undergoes cuts, closings and layoffs.  First

          5  of all, we would loose these children to the

          6  pitfalls of poverty.  We make access to good dental

          7  health easy and comfortable for both the children

          8  and their parents by providing the dentistry right

          9  in the school.  Once parents have to take off work

         10  and loose needed income to go elsewhere for dental

         11  appointments, we can only hope that they get the

         12  help they need for the children and you do not have

         13  to be poor to not be able to take time off work to

         14  get your child to the dentist.

         15                 If infections are not caught early

         16  and treated quickly, patients will suffer from a

         17  range of problems including fever and perhaps even

         18  death.  Obviously the worst outcome.

         19                 The Oral Health Program is here to

         20  protect these children from having to suffer

         21  needlessly.  In addition, the program insures that

         22  the effective delivery of a vital public health

         23  service that winds up saving the taxpayer money in

         24  the end. What I mean is that emergency room visits

         25  at public hospitals and the human and economic costs
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          2  that results from serious illnesses are a lot more

          3  expensive than a simple filling.  So, I believe the

          4  Program should remain as it is and expanded not

          5  curtailed.  Thank you.

          6                 DR. PETERS:  That's good.  Good

          7  afternoon Mr. Chair and Members of the Committee.

          8  My name is Dr. Garry Peters.  I'm one of the

          9  dentists taking care of the children for the

         10  Department of Health and have been doing so for more

         11  than 22 years.  In those years, I have seen the

         12  decline of the bureau due to attrition of staff and

         13  what seems to be a misguided effort regarding the

         14  welfare of the children.  Most recently this was

         15  evidenced by a threat of layoffs of nearly half the

         16  dentists and support staff being cloaked as

         17  restructuring to make care more accessible to the

         18  children.  We all know that cutting back staff makes

         19  care less accessible not more.

         20                 Though the plan was thwarted

         21  management instituted other changes including

         22  arbitrarily ordering staff to work nights and

         23  Saturdays again being cloaked as restructuring to

         24  make care more accessible to the children but in

         25  effect this may be a way to force staff to resign.
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          2  I have to say that I wasn't asked what hours I would

          3  want to be changed to and I don't think anybody else

          4  was either.  From what I'm told, pretty much

          5  everyone was told that hours gonna be changed.  The

          6  issue wasn't discussed.

          7                 All that this is doing is making it

          8  so difficult for the dentists to remain on the job

          9  that they will have to resign and as a result there

         10  will be no one left to provide the care.  We must

         11  ask ourselves who are making these decisions and,

         12  with all due respect, I don't believe they are

         13  dentists.  They do not work in the field with

         14  patients as we do and therefore they cannot know how

         15  it is to work under the conditions they impose on us

         16  or of the negative impact management is having on

         17  the children.

         18                 This is a time when the service

         19  should be expanded, not cut off by layoffs or forced

         20  resignations.  Expanding hours beyond school hours

         21  makes for less efficiency as does forcing staff to

         22  travel between locations all over the City and

         23  forcing long breaks of inactivity between sessions

         24  which I hear is also being proposed and forcing

         25  staff to quit is certainly not helping the children
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          2  either.

          3                 To make sure the services aren't

          4  diminished, you must see to it that the destruction

          5  of this service does not happen.  The bureau can be

          6  expanded.  Funding can be sought via federal or

          7  private grants and through collection of funds from

          8  those who are already insured.  New staff can be

          9  hired to fill new positions created for hours that

         10  differ from existing schedules in order that no one

         11  would be forced out.  Public service announcements

         12  and a public awareness campaign can and should be

         13  launched to let the public now that this service

         14  exists.

         15                 This program has been serving as

         16  city's children's needs better and more efficiently

         17  than anyone else can and as the best time and place

         18  to see children with the least impact on loosing

         19  time from school is while they are in school without

         20  having to be taken out of school a day at a time and

         21  without making their parents loose time from work

         22  and from which there is an endless stream of

         23  children with urgent dental needs who can be seen at

         24  a moment's notice and without downtime due to

         25  patients missing appointments.
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          2                 I want to state emphatically that the

          3  changes in hours are assigned to staff and not

          4  discussed with us.  Also, every child that we see in

          5  the clinic gets a comprehensive dental examination

          6  and treatment plan including the necessary treatment

          7  and sealants.  On sealants I want to say that while

          8  they are important for prevention of problems,

          9  you've heard this said before, curing dental disease

         10  must take priority.

         11                 Regarding mandatory dental check-

         12  ups, I have to comment that when I was growing up, I

         13  went to a New York City public school and we were

         14  required to bring in a dental note saying that we

         15  had been to the dentist and it wanted to know

         16  whether the work was in progress or completed.  This

         17  was a highly effective program and when I started

         18  working for the bureau in 1984, these notes were

         19  still in effect and responsible for most of the

         20  patients that I have seen.  I'm all for this tried

         21  and true method.  I thank you very much for the

         22  opportunity to speak.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Doctors,

         24  I have a few questions before my colleagues face you

         25  with their borage of questions.  First of all, I

                                                            106

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  like the idea of the emergency medical record,

          3  electronic medical record.  I like the idea for the

          4  fact that in this modern day, technology is there so

          5  why we haven't looked into that.  I know it's being

          6  used at AHC and other places that has been used now.

          7  I don't see why it couldn't -- do you have any idea

          8  what it would cost to institute electronic medical

          9  record?

         10                 DR. LIEBOWITZ:  No.  I cannot give

         11  you a cost but I could say it will be an absolutely

         12  necessity at the present and in the future.  It's

         13  how you devote resources towards patient care which

         14  will determine what the value of it is.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  The

         16  other question that I have and this is something

         17  that we spoke about earlier- preventative care.

         18  Yes.  But that should be in conjunction with regular

         19  care if there's a problem.  But with that, I'm

         20  hearing a mixed message that the chairs are vacant

         21  high percentage of the time and now, one of my

         22  colleagues says that people will have to wait for a

         23  year to get an appointment.  What's the true story

         24  here and how can we really rectify that.

         25                 DR. LIEBOWITZ:  (The light is on.
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          2  Okay, got it.) Let me be very clear.  I'm not sure

          3  of what population the Department of Health is

          4  talking about.  We were called into a meeting in

          5  which we were supposedly be told about the

          6  restructuring and were told about layoffs.  We had

          7  met with the OLR office of Jim Hanley's (phonetic)

          8  office of Labor Relations and their data was so

          9  flawed that they refused to allow them to institute

         10  any layoffs until they cleaned up the data.

         11                 This is the quietest program in the

         12  City of New York.  We have had parents who do not

         13  know that this is available and I would tell you

         14  that under this particular Commissioner that there

         15  is a one- third less, less visits than prior.  This

         16  was made the only layoffs in the City was made in

         17  this program. Irreplaceable.

         18                 I want to say something else because

         19  they quoted you, the DCD thing, but when I went up

         20  to see Dr. Thomas Frieden, Commissioner, he gave me

         21  something from DCD so I downloaded it, on sealants.

         22  What they didn't give me was the next page.  The

         23  next page says unless you use a school- based

         24  program, if I may read "we found insufficient

         25  evidence to determine the effectiveness of state-
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          2  wide or community- wide sealant promotion programs

          3  in increasing sealant juice or reducing tooth-

          4  decay".

          5                 What that meant, if you don't do it

          6  in school, it's not going to happen.  And when I

          7  say- I started my career in New York in a place

          8  called Nina which is a health center down in the

          9  lower east side, Third between C and D.  Let me tell

         10  you, when you have a captive catchment area in a

         11  school and you understand that people have to hold

         12  down many jobs or have extended families, if you

         13  can't do it in school which is the best place to get

         14  medical or dental care, you are not going to get it.

         15    People will not go to an area when there may be no

         16  one to take them there; there may be other

         17  priorities within that family like survival.  I

         18  would say to you that in the days that I grew up in

         19  the City of New York this was available as was in

         20  the Department of Health a medical component was

         21  available that actually saved my life.

         22                 I don't know what's happened to our

         23  priorities but when I see a bureau use data and then

         24  that data itself, you can download this, states

         25   "unless you do it in school, there's no evidence
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          2  that it will work".

          3                 Now let me tell you what these

          4  doctors do and they have said it, they examine, they

          5  clean, they do seal, they fill cavities, they do

          6  root- canal and they do bonding just as your dentist

          7  can do.  What, excuse me, what they don't tell you

          8  and what they did not say is that in a lot of these

          9  insurance plans every time you see a dentist you

         10  need to get prior approval, all right. It's not done

         11  in one shot.  There is only one doctor in all of

         12  Staten Island that will take Medicaid, dental.  One

         13  dentist.  The shortest way we found at HHC is at

         14  Bellevue is three months to see a dentist.

         15                 Now, there are things that are called

         16  barriers to care and one of them is, and it's also

         17  in the DCD report and in the State of New York

         18  report, many dentist do not want to take Metroplus,

         19  Childcare Plus or Medicaid.  That's a reality.  So

         20  this story about, you know we're going to link up

         21  with private dentists whatever and you should know

         22  that there are only three thousand pediatric

         23  dentists in the whole United States, all right?  And

         24  only 1% of that is in the public sector.

         25                 Their plan is absolute faulty based
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          2  on the reality. When I say, what population are you

          3  talking about?  We have people coming from all over

          4  the world where water is not fluoridated. When they

          5  come here, their teeth are absolutely destroyed.  I

          6  have spent eight months in the Amazon jungle and

          7  they have one staple which is the manioc?

          8  Unfortunately, manioc is like a plankton. Destroys

          9  your teeth it's so rich in starches and sugars.

         10                 What do you think the diet is in the

         11  world that we are really trying to bring to our

         12  shores?  Remember New York City is over 51% of

         13  immigrant population and expanding.  These people

         14  have not come out of Havana.  They're coming too.

         15  They lift their lamps beside the golden door and

         16  they deserve to be taken care of and not to be

         17  shunned and not for these dentists to have the only

         18  layoffs in the City of New York when we have a youth

         19  surplus.  This is one program I will tell you

         20  growing up in this City that is irreplaceable.  You

         21  think you can go to NY Youth, you think you can go

         22  to Columbia, then they ain't going to do it for

         23  free.  All right

         24                 So, what I say to you with a great

         25  deal of emotion and I guess some rationality is that
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          2  this is an absolute jewel that has been covered over

          3  and kept silent and kept invisible but we brought it

          4  out.  And you know who brought it out?  It was this

          5  Council.  It was OLR by saying we're not going to

          6  allow this to happen until you get your data

          7  straight.  And if it was not for this Council, and I

          8  look right at Letitia right now getting on

          9  immediately within about two days when this thing

         10  broke and really broadcasting it I don't think we

         11  would be here today.  It is the City Council that

         12  has given life to this and it's the City Council

         13  that will regulate it and they will watch it.  We

         14  have never seen the plan that we were supposed to be

         15  working on it together.  Until yesterday they said

         16  there was no plan.

         17                 So, with that I'd like my other

         18  colleagues to talk but I think I may have answered

         19  your question and maybe a little bit more.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I have

         21  raised a couple suggestions with the Deputy

         22  Commissioner in terms of the use of dental vans

         23  because it's very difficult to really put the clinic

         24  in all the schools of New York.  All the schools

         25  really do need dental clinics in terms of to deal
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          2  with one, preventative care and two, treatment

          3  because some of these problems that may develop if

          4  you don't catch them early that child may loose a

          5  tooth.

          6                 What is your take on the fact that we

          7  have technology now that we can use dental vans to

          8  go to some of these schools on a regular basis and

          9  have what we call mandatory screenings and all those

         10  things?

         11                 DR. JOSEPH:  Before I answer that,

         12  let me just say that in reference to the empty

         13  chair, what the Department did was went into the

         14  worksite and found that you should be seeing x

         15  number of patients per hour and decided that we

         16  should have a body count. What they didn't look at

         17  is that the productivity standard also states that

         18  the equipment should be equivalent to private

         19  practice. While our equipment is adequate, it is

         20  certainly equivalent to what you have in private

         21  practice.

         22                 They also do not realize that we are

         23  dealing with children and it takes time, even as an

         24  adult you are scared of the dentist.  The children

         25  more so.  It takes time to calm them down.  The
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          2  productivity standard should not be the body count

          3  but the amount of procedure that you do within that

          4  hour.  While they claim that the chair is empty, the

          5  chair indeed is not empty.  You are doing more

          6  procedure in that patient.

          7                 Now, in terms of the dental van I do

          8  think, indeed, it is a great idea if the funds can

          9  be found for it.  In the past, I know in cooperation

         10  with the Colgate Dental Van we've used them for

         11  screening.  Recently, I haven't seen any of the

         12  hygienists doing any screening so I'm wondering what

         13  happened to that dental van.  So, if we could use

         14  that not only to provide the screening but to

         15  provide the treatment as well.  That would be an

         16  excellent idea.

         17                 DR. LIEBOWITZ:  I just want to point

         18  out that the Health and Hospital Corporation has

         19  what's called Asthma Vans which has been very, very

         20  helpful in reducing the incidence of asthma in

         21  communities.  So, again that's one thing that is

         22  operational. Thank you.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Yes, I

         24  too agree with you that I think we should look into

         25  the fact that dental vans can play a big role in
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          2  really helping to alleviate some of these problems.

          3  In terms of preventative care, do you think that

          4  there should be- I know that I think one of your

          5  doctors answered that question in a way but wasn't

          6  too clear.  Do you think we should go back to the

          7  mandatory screening because that's the only how you

          8  can really tell what's happening.  Because I can see

          9  you going to a school in- yes you may have a problem

         10  with one student and you may have to do a fill- in,

         11  whatever and you wouldn't know that unless the

         12  person coming to you and say listen, I need to have

         13  a screening or there's a problem.  So, some of these

         14  problems can be what we say you catch them in the

         15  beginning before it really get to that point.  So,

         16  what is your take on having some form of mandatory

         17  screening for all students on a yearly or six- month

         18  basis in the schools.

         19                 DR. YOLES:  Okay.  I think you heard-

         20  that's a great question- I think you heard from

         21  everyone that that is an excellent idea, the

         22  mandatory screenings and I know that for headstart

         23  programs which are obviously not city programs

         24  though they do have those forms.  You cannot enter a

         25  headstart program without the form filled out.  Not
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          2  only does it have to be filled out, you have to sign

          3  that you have in fact completed the work. That the

          4  work has been done.  That the child is caries free.

          5                 Just to give you an idea of the

          6  feeling that develops in the clinic even though I

          7  work in a middle school where they're trying to put

          8  less and less emphasis on just because word of mouth

          9  that I'm there.  I've seen two handfuls of these

         10  very young children because the mothers talk to each

         11  other and they say Yeah there's a dentist that will

         12  see kids and they come into this huge, you know,

         13  junior high school/high school.  There's also a high

         14  school in it on Webster Avenue and bringing their

         15  youngsters, their four and five year old and I take

         16  care of them there.  And you ask about how can we-

         17  so to answer you question I think it would be

         18  wonderful because I am seeing a lot of children

         19  because it's mandatory so why stop at five?  Why

         20  stop at four?

         21                 Also to address another issue that's

         22  been brought up in terms of outreach, that burden

         23  has been on kind of the dentist and that is very,

         24  very difficult to worry about getting the patients

         25  in from class, getting the patients in and also
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          2  trying to do outreach.  Trying to speak to the

          3  principal.  That should not be the role of the

          4  treatment provided and it's just too much to do. So

          5  I think that some of the outreach has just been by

          6  word of mouth and that's pretty effective and it

          7  does work.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I would

          9  like to call on Council Member Arroyo.  She has some

         10  questions.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  It should

         12  like we agree. This is probably one of the nicest

         13  panels I've had the pleasure of listening to here.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  They're

         15  doctors you know. Doctors are nice people.  You know

         16  that.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  I know the

         18  president of the Doctors Council from my previous

         19  work at HAC.  I had a lot less white hair and so did

         20  he at the time.  Obviously there's an overall policy

         21  issue here that we need to deal with as a Committee

         22  and as a body.  And, secondly, I just want to say

         23  thank you so much for the work that you do.  My

         24  experience with the Doctors Council on both the

         25  dental and medical provider side has always been an
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          2  incredible experience.  They are professional who

          3  could probably make a lot more money working

          4  somewhere else.  When you read the testimony and you

          5  see the number of years that people dedicate their

          6  profession to in the public sector it's commendable.

          7    The work that you do is incredible and I just want

          8  to say thank you and express our appreciation for

          9  that.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I'd like

         11  to call on Council Member James.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Normally I

         13  don't like dentists.  No I suffered a childhood

         14  trauma so I've been traumatized ever since but to my

         15  dentists out there in television land, Dr. Charles

         16  Granam (phonetic), he's overcome that -- he's

         17  allowed me to, how could I say?  He has me in a --

         18  he's my consultant now and he holds my hand and he

         19  sings to me and he does something with the needles

         20  where I don't feel it and it's absolutely fabulous.

         21  So, he's provided this therapy which has allowed me

         22  to overcome this fear that I have.  So, thank you

         23  Dr. Granam.

         24                 We as a body really need to meet with

         25  the Administration.  We need to meet with the
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          2  Commissioner.  As we go forward in the budget we

          3  need to expand this program.  We need to provide

          4  funds to hire more dentists.  We need to hire more

          5  outreach workers, hygienists, dental assistants and

          6  obviously they need more operational expenses so

          7  that they can purchase more supplies and to expand

          8  the hours.  That's what we as a body need to do at a

          9  time when we as the City of New York are

         10  experiencing a two billion dollar budget surplus.

         11                 So I hope that we would go forward.

         12  I hope all of my colleagues would support this

         13  initiative to expand this wonderful program.  These

         14  doctors do the work of angels and so I just want to

         15  thank you and Dr. Liebowitz, thank you for your kind

         16  words but it really was not me alone.  It was the

         17  full compliment of the City Council headed by the

         18  Speaker Quinn who rescinded these programs and I'll

         19  save my last comments to my very good friend Dr.

         20  Peters.  He came to me early on.  I guess he just

         21  alerted me.  He just had this passion and as someone

         22  of great passion and as someone who is really

         23  focused on the least of god's children, I took this

         24  on.   He's my kindred spirit somewhere and we just

         25  connected and I just want to thank Dr. Peters for
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          2  alerting me; notifying me and for allowing me to go

          3  forward and alerting my colleagues and making this a

          4  cause.

          5                 We do this for children.  I want to

          6  thank you, Dr. Peters, for all that you do.  May you

          7  continue and during this holiday spirit, may god

          8  continue to bless each and every one of you and your

          9  families and may you all continue to have prosperous

         10  careers as we go forward to expand this program.

         11  Thank you.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Thank

         13  you Council Member James.  I just feel that we have

         14  really explored some areas that I think we're not

         15  too sure that the maximum has been done.  For

         16  example, notification to the parents and students or

         17  letting them know that the service is available.

         18  And two, if there is claim that the service is there

         19  and has not been used at least we have to find ways

         20  in which the folks who need the service use the

         21  service.

         22                 We also like to know, when we discuss

         23  with the Administration, as to what the cost is

         24  going to be.  You can't talk about a plan you don't

         25  know what you want to extend; how far you want to
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          2  extend it to; how many more schools you want.

          3  You're talking about cutting service and not really-

          4  to me, I don't understand if you have a plan, we

          5  have to see the full text of the plan.  We haven't

          6  seen that.  To me it's like going backwards when we

          7  should be going forward.  We should be looking at

          8  areas whereby we can make sure that our children are

          9  being served; their medical problems are taken care

         10  of and provide a service with the best and most

         11  confident folks who are actually doing the work

         12  right now and we're not talking about it.

         13                 So, with that said, I don't know if

         14  anybody has anymore questions.  Oh, Dickens, you

         15  have questions?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Mr. Chair, can

         17  we get a copy of that consent form?  Can we get a

         18  copy of that consent form so we could sort of

         19  simplify it?  Thank you.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Thank you so

         22  much for the testimony of everyone on the panel.

         23  Dr. Liebowitz, it's good seeing you again.  Thank

         24  you for your very passionate and rational testimony.

         25  To piggyback on my colleague Council Member Arroyo
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          2  about the incredible work that's oftentimes

          3  volunteer of the Doctors Council.

          4                 But you know, a picture is worth a

          5  thousand words and when I saw this I was mortified

          6  and I thought it was an abused child.  A child that

          7  had been beaten in the face, that's what I thought

          8  until I read the caption and saw that it was due to

          9  actual poor dental care.  This picture tells the

         10  entire story as to what must be done and what the

         11  City Council must do.  I think this was so- it's a

         12  horrific picture but I'm glad you sent this and

         13  circulated this, I really am.

         14                 You answered my question about the

         15  outreach because that was a question I had for Deal

         16  MH.  About the effectiveness of the outreach.

         17  You've answered the question about the

         18  ineffectiveness of the outreach.  I would like for

         19  you to please work with us about some of the

         20  effective means that can be implemented so that

         21  outreach can be effective.  Because, as I've stated,

         22  parents at the school in my district had no idea of

         23  the program being available to them.

         24                 So I'm going to ask you to please

         25  work with us to help us to implement effective plans
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          2  that can be put in place so that our parents will

          3  know what's available.  In fact, the youth should

          4  know.  I know that they talked about the middle

          5  schools versus high schools but in many of our

          6  districts we have emancipated youth that are still

          7  going to school but they're living elsewhere and

          8  they need this service that's available to them in

          9  school because some of them don't have Medicaid

         10  cards.  So, this is the only way they have to get

         11  dental care.

         12                 So I want us to please be focused on

         13  these youths because that's a segment that no one is

         14  focused on.  And yet they are going to school but

         15  they're emancipated and they don't have a Medicaid

         16  card.  In addition private insurance plans, and you

         17  can answer this for me, it is my understanding that

         18  many private insurance plans, although they cover

         19  dental, has a cap on the number of visits and/or a

         20  monetary cap which means that for our kids this

         21  program is much needed.  Am I correct?

         22                 DR. JOSEPH:  You are absolutely

         23  correct in that since Dr. Liebowitz' mike is not

         24  working so let me take that on. No, you're

         25  absolutely correct in that.  There is indeed a
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          2  monetary cap even for private insurance on how much

          3  can be spent on services.  Now also I'm glad you

          4  mentioned that picture.  Now, to tell the parent of

          5  that child I cannot treat I can only prevent would

          6  be abuse on top of abuse.

          7                 The New York State Department of

          8  Health in their health plan recognize that the

          9  availability of providers either experienced to

         10  handle the whole care of children or willing to

         11  participate in the public reinvestment program is

         12  very limited. Which makes this program even more

         13  needed for the children that we are talking about.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All

         15  right.  Are you finished?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  I just want

         17  to thank the panel again.

         18                 DR. LIEBOWITZ:  I'd like to thank you

         19  all because I think once you overcome being

         20  invisible, real good things start to happen.  At the

         21  same time, these doctors were laid off the

         22  Department of Health hired 29 administrators at very

         23  high salaries.  I don't know if they were to be

         24  executed to pay for that or whatever, but I do think

         25  if you're going to run a dental service, maybe a
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          2  director should be a dentist.  I think those are the

          3  things we should down the road look at.  I think

          4  right now it's just save the program.  Save the

          5  program and we will do everything and anything

          6  whether you need- we will do whatever we can

          7  politically and we will do it in a community and if

          8  you need us to show up and to talk, fine.  One of

          9  the interesting things of how in some schools they

         10  have like a Christmas/Hanukkah/Kwanza party, all

         11  right. And they give out little bags of stuff and

         12  one of the doctors threw in the dental program thing

         13  into that bag and the response was we never even

         14  knew we had it.  So, simple things.  But I've

         15  testified a lot of times in front of this City

         16  Council and this has been my truly most enjoyable

         17  experience.  I'm actually looking at old friends and

         18  some young friends and some new friends but, anyway,

         19  just have a wonderful holiday and I know that we're

         20  in good hands. Thank you.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  First of

         22  all, I just want to correct Council Member Dickens.

         23  This is actually child abuse and it's our fault.

         24  It's the Administration's fault.  When we allow

         25  things like this to happen it's our fault.  If you
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          2  were to- it's like child neglect and I just want to

          3  correct you in that and so I will not allow this to

          4  happen under our watch.  We will talk about it,

          5  we'll make sure the Administration knows about it

          6  and they will not go into the- foster that they are

          7  going to be making changes without us being a part

          8  of that and cutting the services is, I think, is a

          9  wrong way to go.  We need to at least examine, see

         10  what it is and, as a matter of fact, based on what

         11  I've heard so far we should be increasing the

         12  services and providing the services in places where

         13  it's necessary.  Having said that, I think we should

         14  say thank you.  Thank you for your service and we

         15  hope to hear from you again.  Thank you.

         16                 We have one more panel?  Who is it?

         17  I thought we were finished?  Oh, all right.

         18  Courtney Chin.  Darryl Ramsey and Anthony Feliciano.

         19                 First of all, all we would like you

         20  to do now is to if you identify yourself and then

         21  you testify.  If the light is off, if the button

         22  shows no light that means it's on.  That's how we do

         23  things at City Hall here, all right.  So you would

         24  first identify yourself and then you in the

         25  testimony.  We will listen to all four of your first
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          2  then we will ask questions.

          3                 MR. RAMSEY:  Good afternoon.  My name

          4  is Darryl Ramsey.  I'm the president of Local 768 of

          5  District Council 37, AFSCME, AFL- CIO.  I represent

          6  over 4,000 city employees in the Allied Health

          7  Services including the Dental Assistants and Dental

          8  Hygienists in the Department of Health and Mental

          9  Hygiene.

         10                 I'm here today to thank the City

         11  Council but specifically Council Member Joel Rivera,

         12  the Chair of this Committee and Speaker Christine

         13  Quinn for allowing us to meet with them after we had

         14  met with the Office of Labor Relations and to talk

         15  about the problem that we're having with regard to

         16  the dental assistants being laid off along with the

         17  doctors.

         18                 Okay.  I want to thank you for your

         19  efforts to stop the proposed layoffs in the Oral

         20  policy and program that were originally scheduled to

         21  take effect tomorrow.  I also want to thank the City

         22  Council and this Health Committee for holding

         23  today's hearing on the restructuring of the program.

         24                 We continue to be concerned that the

         25  portable dental clinics program is vulnerable to
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          2  cuts and closures.  Therefore, it is essential that

          3  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene provide the

          4  City Council with a detailed and complete

          5  restructuring plan. As of today, we still don't have

          6  any information from OHPP on their plans.  We hope

          7  that that's not a bad sign.  We know that Oral

          8  Health has been shrinking its staff and services for

          9  years.  We also know that the proposed reduction in

         10  services during the summer, furloughs and shift

         11  changes are still on the table.  Our members still

         12  face the possibility that they will lose employment

         13  over the summer.

         14                 On the other hand, we also know that

         15  Oral Health just installed new dentists' chairs,

         16  sinks and autoclaves in many schools this year.

         17  Hopefully this will be an opportunity to inject some

         18  renewed life into the program.  I say this for two

         19  reasons: First, the  City is currently enjoying a

         20  surplus of over a billion dollars.  We are not in a

         21  fiscal squeeze where tough choices need to be made.

         22  Secondly, children's dental health would be an

         23  excellent addition to the City's agenda on health.

         24                 Joining the City's campaigns against

         25  smoking, trans fats and obesity, we should
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          2  strengthen our efforts against children's tooth

          3  decay and gum disease.  In fact, DOHMH just launched

          4  a new campaign called "Move to Fruits and

          5  Vegetables" that will encourage bodegas to sell

          6  fresh fruit- fresh produce.  We need to make sure

          7  that kids have the healthy and strong teeth

          8  necessary to bite into those juicy apples and pairs

          9  in the first place.

         10                 The school- based clinics are a

         11  lifesaver for so many kids regardless of where they

         12  come from or what kind of insurance their parents

         13  have.  These clinics were developed in the 80s to

         14  increase access and to help working parents who

         15  could not take time off from their jobs to take

         16  their kids to the dentist.  We're not just talking

         17  about check- ups and cavities.  We're talking about

         18  gum diseases, braces, root canals, major dental

         19  problems that can lead to speech problems; chronic

         20  pain malnutrition and other severe health problems

         21  for kids.

         22                 The Daily News just reported last

         23  month that large insurance companies like Aetna are

         24  expanding dental coverage because studies prove that

         25  scaling, root planting and other periodontal
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          2  procedures keep children healthier and keep health

          3  care costs down.

          4                 The OHPP is an under- appreciated

          5  success story that deserves more investment not

          6  reductions.  The staffing is on the brink of

          7  extinction.  Currently, there are only 18 dental

          8  hygienists in the entire DOHMH program.  If the

          9  agency goes forward with furloughs over the summer,

         10  our dental assistants who earn between $12 and $14

         11  an hour would be ineligible.  They would be

         12  ineligible for health insurance and other city

         13  benefits and are forced to collect unemployment

         14  insurance.

         15                 Let's find out what grant monies are

         16  available to support the OHHP.  Let's look at

         17  opportunities to reach out to more children in need,

         18  for example, through homeless shelters.  Let's

         19  continue the City's dedication to a healthier New

         20  York for generations to come.  Thank you.

         21                 DR. CHIN:  Mr. Chair, Members of the

         22  Committee, good afternoon.  My name is Courtney Hugh

         23  Chinn.  I'm a dentist with a clinical specialty in

         24  pediatric dentistry and a member of both the

         25  American New York Academies of Pediatric Dentistry.
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          2                 A little bit about myself, after

          3  graduating from dental school, I completed both my

          4  advanced dental training and general dentistry, my

          5  specialty training at Columbia University and

          6  subsequently provided dental care to underserved and

          7  immigrant New York City children at Charles B. Want

          8  Community Health Clinic and the Children's Aid

          9  Society.

         10                 Now during my years of service there

         11  I came to appreciate not just intensive dental need

         12  of the children of the City but also the

         13  consequences of poor oral health for so many of

         14  them.  I had the opportunity to work not only in

         15  community health clinics but also in school- based

         16  settings and in a mobile dental van systems and I've

         17  come to understand the importance of systems of care

         18  like the school- based dental system you're

         19  considering discussing today.  I've realized the

         20  tremendous potential to improve children's health

         21  and welfare through public health.

         22                 Just a year ago I returned to

         23  Columbia University as the US Department of Health

         24  and Human Services Head Start Fellow in Pediatric

         25  Dentistry.  Through this public health Fellowship, I
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          2  work daily with numerous young children and their

          3  families in Washington Heights Head Start programs.

          4  I want to take a moment to applaud the comments of

          5  my colleagues previously.  Their comments were right

          6  on in my opinion.

          7                 The underlying public health problem

          8  that supports the idea of providing dental care

          9  through the New York City school system is the high

         10  and growing prevalence of common dental disease.

         11  We're talking about trauma/broken teeth, as you

         12  said, braces problems, orthodontic problems, gum

         13  problems and other disease of the soft tissue in the

         14  mouth.  But by far the most common dental disease of

         15  concern would be tooth decay.

         16                 Before providing any details, I want

         17  to summarize the problem this way.  Children are

         18  continuing to suffer consequentially from ordinary

         19  tooth decay that's by and large largely preventable.

         20    Those children with the greatest needs have the

         21  least access to dental care if it were not for

         22  safety net problems like school- based health

         23  centers.  And there's that subset of children, about

         24  1 in 20, those with the very worst oral health that

         25  are so often unable to eat normally, sleep normally,
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          2  speak normally, learn normally, behave normally

          3  because of this on- going experience of dental pain.

          4                 I want to thank you for this

          5  opportunity to address you all today and provide

          6  testimony about the importance of children's oral

          7  health and in these few minutes I'd like to provide

          8  some national data and then illustrate some examples

          9  from personal experience.

         10                 If there were three things I want to

         11  say about tooth decay I would impress upon your

         12  today, the first is that tooth decay in young

         13  children is highly, highly prevalent.  According to

         14  US Surgeon General, tooth decay remains to be the

         15  single most common chronic disease of childhood and

         16  that's five times more children that have cavities

         17  that have asthma.  The CDC reported last year that

         18  more than a quarter of all children under the age of

         19  six have obvious cavities.  This is not cavities

         20  that show up on the x- ray but on cursory rough exam

         21  if they open their mouth you'll see holes in their

         22  mouths.  So, obvious frank lesions.

         23                 What this means to school dental

         24  programs is that by the time children enter

         25  kindergarten, more than a quarter of them already
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          2  have cavities and few have any repair and that would

          3  be called untreated caries.  And trends, it looks

          4  like it's not going to get better.

          5                 For young children the prevalence of

          6  caries in recent years have increased, not

          7  decreased, by over 15%.  Since most of this increase

          8  is in minority, lower income and immigrant children

          9  like the children in these New York City schools,

         10  demographic trends at the burden of disease will

         11  only increase.  In fact, as a nation and as a city

         12  we're moving further away from the Healthy People

         13  2010 goals as increasing percentages of children who

         14  are experiencing this ordinary and preventable tooth

         15  decay.

         16                 The second point I'd like to say is

         17  that tooth decay is also consequential.  Now the

         18  high prevalence of tooth decay wouldn't really be

         19  much of a major concern to me as a dentist or for

         20  you as policy makers if it were not also

         21  consequential in the children's lives and their

         22  ability to function normally.  So, we're talking

         23  about 20% that have significant levels of tooth

         24  decay and a quarter of those children have decay so

         25  severe that it causes them trouble with basic daily
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          2  function, eating/sleeping.

          3

          4                 Try to picture those children that

          5  are living with constant dental pain and even those

          6  children with intermittent dental pain.  The pain

          7  causes distraction, leads to difficulties in

          8  learning, missed school days or worse low function

          9  days and even bad behavior and acting out.  I'm sure

         10  if you would ask school nurses at some of these

         11  clinics, they're more aware of this than me.  So

         12  many children presented with the school nurse with a

         13  complaint of a tooth ache but oftentimes the nurse

         14  has nothing better than a referral to a dentist and

         15  we're just told how long it takes with those

         16  referrals unless a school program is readily

         17  available.

         18                 Now what statistics are telling they

         19  don't really begin to describe a picture as you were

         20  looking at today.  I want to describe one more just

         21  when I was serving at a local community center.  Her

         22  name was Faye and she had come in from her first

         23  visit because her school actually had a mandatory

         24  dental screening form and we filled that out and she

         25  was happy and playful but when I did the exam I
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          2  noticed rampant decay.  Many of her teeth had

          3  obvious large lesions and when I told her father

          4  that she needed to come back for immediate

          5  treatment, he told me that it would be very

          6  difficult because he couldn't miss work.  Not that

          7  he didn't want to, he couldn't miss work and he

          8  didn't want her missing any school.

          9                 So they left and I didn't see them

         10  for about two months.  And then they came back but

         11  this time as emergency patient and Faye's teeth had

         12  cause a pretty serious infection, much like the

         13  photo you saw.  It led to a fever, subsequent

         14  swelling under her eye and Faye was like a different

         15  child.  Quiet, subdued, whimpering when before she

         16  was- I remember her being so playful. And the

         17  interesting thing was that both Faye and her father

         18  looked like they had not slept at all.  So the

         19  implications are also to the family not just the

         20  child.  He had told me that she had been hurting the

         21  last couple of nights, hadn't slept, barely ate

         22  anything and hadn't even gone to school the day

         23  before.

         24                 Now fortunately we were able to take

         25  care of Faye that day but she ended up missing a lot
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          2  more school and her father ended up missing a lot

          3  more work.  I remember remarking to my staff about

          4  this I was thinking, does it have to be like this?

          5  So I'm going to talk a little about factors that

          6  lead up to poor oral health very quickly I know

          7  we're in a rush.

          8                 As with most chronic diseases, tooth

          9  decay results of many factors.  Behavioral factors

         10  like diet, eating patterns, oral hygiene practices,

         11  use of fluorides as well as knowledge, attitudes,

         12  beliefs that can either protect the child or put

         13  them at risk.  I feel I am sort of preaching to the

         14  choir here.  I hear what the Councilwomen and men

         15  are saying and I'm very encouraged.

         16                 But environmental factors also are

         17  very important and that includes availability of

         18  healthy snacks in schools, availability of

         19  fluoridate water and as some studies suggests even

         20  the amount of lead in the air.  Genetic factors play

         21  a role and all these factors are modified by social

         22  determinants and opportunities.  Ultimately, much of

         23  oral health and general health for that matter

         24  depends upon knowledge.  The very health knowledge

         25  our schools can bring to our students and children
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          2  in New York City.

          3                 But prevention is one thing but tooth

          4  decay is a progressive disease that once it's

          5  started it requires treatment to manage.  Children

          6  at greatest risk for disease also are least likely

          7  to have access to dental care without school- based

          8  or other safety net programs.  These programs are

          9  also able to provide preventive services including

         10  fluoride and sealant programs but the main thing is

         11  they eliminate the well recognized merits that you

         12  all said of transportation, dentists availability

         13  and lack of Medicaid program capacity.  It's one

         14  thing to increase awareness but there's no capacity

         15  then that's a fundamental flaw.

         16                 Now in Washington Heights we have

         17  demonstrated at community level effort can succeed

         18  in promoting oral health and insuring needed dental

         19  care.  I specifically work with Headstart programs

         20  and as the previous dentist had mentioned we're able

         21  to create an oral health program that equips staff

         22  workers to become effective advocates, empower

         23  parents to be proactive in the oral health of their

         24  children and connecting communities with those rare,

         25  rare local dental services.
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          2                 Now, because tooth decay is

          3  progressive and it accumulates, children grow older.

          4    Presenters at the Institute of Medicine recently

          5  had a public hearing specifically on adolescent

          6  health and they repeatedly cited dental problems in

          7  teens, not young children, teens as a common

          8  significant and consequential health problem.  As

          9  teens come of age, they go on to become parents and

         10  those who had most problems with cavities have

         11  children who are also most cavity prone.  This is

         12  because tooth decay is infectious disease process

         13  and is transmissible disease process that's passed

         14  on from generations.

         15                 There's also going concern that

         16  periodontal disease in pregnant women is associated

         17  with unfavorable work outcomes and that periodontal

         18  disease that starts in adolescence becomes risk

         19  factors in adults for diabetes, stroke, heart

         20  disease and a number of other chronic medical

         21  conditions.  I think the colleagues again made a

         22  good connection with oral health and general health.

         23                 In the end preschoolers, school- aged

         24  children and teenagers who are suffering the most

         25  and gain the least care that is our collective
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          2  responsibility and the responsibility of the

          3  government because of the fact that these

          4  populations are vulnerable and they are dependent.

          5  We expect children to succeed in schools and later

          6  in life we need to assure them that they can be

          7  healthy in every way including oral health.

          8                 Now I'll be happy to answer any

          9  questions you might have or obtain additional

         10  information if you might desire to address this

         11  issue.  I do want to thank you so much for bringing

         12  the prestige and the influence of your Committee and

         13  your Council for this critical health issue.  Your

         14  work truly can give New York City's children much to

         15  smile about.  Thank you.

         16                 MR. FELICIANO:  My name is Anthony

         17  Feliciano and I work for the Commission on the

         18  public health system.

         19                 Members of the Health Committee,

         20  thank you for the opportunity to testify before you

         21  about the importance of free children dental

         22  clinics.  As many of you probably know, CPH has

         23  spent a great deal and time and energy along with

         24  the City Council insuring that funding is available

         25  for the child health clinics. HHC small clinics
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          2  which provide primary and preventive care for

          3  children and youth.

          4                 We can do no less for the City's free

          5  dental clinics in the schools which are also a

          6  critical important service for children.  As a wise

          7  person once said, location, location, location.  How

          8  important it is to provide services that are readily

          9  in the schools?  Very.  Despite the increased access

         10  to public health coverage for children, there are

         11  still many children who are uninsured.  There are

         12  also many children who live in communities where

         13  dental services are not readily available.  So,

         14  providing this service in the school is critical.

         15                 There should be an increase in dental

         16  care available to schools not less.  We were

         17  horrified when we heard that the Health Commissioner

         18  wanted to cut services and layoff dentists.  We are

         19  pleased now that this absurd idea was withdrawn but

         20  are still concerned that the current services not be

         21  closed but would instead recommend that they be

         22  expanded to more schools.

         23                 CPHS is sure that the Council's

         24  Health Committee is aware of the struggle with the

         25  departing governor over the Hospital Closing
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          2  Commission plans to close hospitals.  What many

          3  people have yet to understand is that closing a

          4  hospital is not just closing inpatient beds.  It

          5  also means closing the emergency room and outpatient

          6  services with no commitment of funding to retain

          7  services in those communities.  I say this because

          8  surely it's not the time where New York City should

          9  even think about closing off access particularly in

         10  low- income medically underserved immigrant and

         11  communities of color.  The Health Department itself

         12  has documented the racial and ethnic disparity and

         13  access to care and services.

         14                 Now that there is a thought given to

         15  restructuring the City's child dental program, the

         16  City Council could and should urge the department to

         17  open up the planning process to include a wide range

         18  of community organizations, parents and unions to

         19  develop creative ideas for the dental program.

         20  Services should not be removed from high schools,

         21  probably the most underserved of all populations.

         22  Consideration should be given to the messages and

         23  outreach to young people about the importance of

         24  oral hygiene.

         25                 CPHS stands ready to work with the
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          2  Council and other interested parties to plan for

          3  children's health and dental needs. We are very

          4  concerned that the City's Department of Health and

          5  Mental Hygiene does not appear to have even a

          6  children's health agenda and this is unacceptable.

          7                 Let me add four more points, we're

          8  talking about- and these dental clinics are located

          9  in medically underserved areas.  What it basically

         10  means is that they don't have enough physicians or

         11  enough health care and medical services.  So these

         12  dental clinics are sure critical in those

         13  communities.

         14                 The other piece to this is that it's

         15  also regardless of the ability to pay and regardless

         16  of your status and like I said, this service is also

         17  critical given this time.

         18                 Also, a comment.  The Health

         19  Department has continued to obscure facts and data,

         20  interpret information in order to justify unjustly

         21  cuts to medical services and health services. In

         22  particularly in low income communities of color.

         23  The other thing to this is we would support

         24  requirements and exploration and investigation

         25  around mandatory screening and so on.  Those are my
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          2  last four points.  Thank you.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All

          4  right.  Any questions from my colleagues?  Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Is the

          6  Department of Health still here?  Is there a

          7  representative?  Anyone?  Okay.

          8                 I just wanted to make sure that

          9  someone from the Department of Health was here so

         10  that they incorporated all of the sentiments and

         11  recommendations and thoughts.  Okay.  Thank you.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All

         13  right.  Well, you know most of your concerns have

         14  been articulated by my colleagues already. We

         15  understand what you've just testified to.  You're

         16  really speaking to the choir.  We understand it and

         17  we agree with you and we believe that at least it's

         18  irrational to cut this service from the schools and

         19  we think at least efforts should be made to enhance

         20  this service in the school rather than cut.  Maybe

         21  notification and all those other aspects that were

         22  left out in the past we should look at that and see

         23  if we can enhance that.

         24                 If my colleagues don't have any other

         25  questions for this panel we would move along.
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          2                 Thank you and we hope to reach out to

          3  you concerning this.  We have one more person to

          4  testify and that is Mr. Shotkin. All right

          5                 Mr. Shotkin, if you can just identify

          6  yourself and you can begin right away so we can move

          7  along.  Thank you.

          8                 MR. SHOTKIN:  Certainly Mr. Sitting

          9  Chair and I just want to commend you on the great

         10  job that you've done chairing this hearing in the

         11  absence of Chairman Rivera.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Thank

         13  you.

         14                 MR. SHOTKIN:  I just wanted to make a

         15  few points that I personally agree with the

         16  Commission that the dental clinics shouldn't be

         17  closed- nine of them.  It's outrageous that the City

         18  of New York has all this money for dental funding

         19  and can't even keep dental clinics open.  Can you

         20  imagine how much bad hygiene and possibly death can

         21  occur because of this.

         22                 My good colleague Mr. Feliciano who

         23  just testified before me and that was actually the

         24  testimony of the Director Judy Wessler who in her

         25  testimony mentioned hospital closings.  I say here
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          2  that like Cabrini and St. Vincents are closing this

          3  will reduce and possibly eliminate dental services.

          4  Our ship is being reauthorized by Congress even

          5  though Congress is on winter recess right now.

          6  Dental clinics should be placed in all schools, I

          7  agree with that.  I myself use an electric

          8  toothbrush with a certain system with alcohol free

          9  mouthwash where you dip the toothbrush into the

         10  mouthwash twice and then brush your teeth without

         11  toothpaste.  Thank you very much.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Are

         13  there any questions for this witness?

         14                 Brothers and sisters, my colleagues I

         15  must say it has been a pleasure sharing this

         16  Committee.  Thank you for your support and thank you

         17  for such informative questions.

         18                 This hearing is now adjourned.

         19                 (Hearing concluded at 4:20 p.m.)
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